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INTRODUCTION TO THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS OF MANITOBA 

 
The Public Accounts of the Province of Manitoba are prepared by statutory requirement, in accordance 
with the Financial Administration Act, which is Chapter F55 of the Continuing Consolidation of the 
Statutes of Manitoba.  The Public Accounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007 consist of four 
volumes: 
 
Volume 1 
 
- This is included in the Government’s Annual Report. 
- Section 1 focuses on the entire reporting entity and includes the Summary Financial Statements of 

the Government. 
- Section 2 consists of the Special Purpose Financial Statements prepared for the Operating Fund. 

This section focuses on the Government’s stewardship over the assets and operations of central 
Government.  Performance is related to the legislative authorities provided by the annual 
appropriation of funds by the Legislature through the Estimates process. 

 
 
Volume 2 
 
- Contains the audited Schedule of Public Sector Compensation Payments of $50,000 or more as paid 

through the Consolidated Fund as well as those paid by Special Operating Agencies. 
- Contains details of unaudited Consolidated Fund and Special Operating Agencies’ payments in 

excess of $5,000 to corporations, firms, individuals, other Governments and Government agencies.  
 
Volume 3 
 
- Contains the details of the Operating Fund Financial Statements. 
- Contains the details of the Operating Fund borrowings and guarantees. 
- Contains the details of the Operating Fund revenue and expense. 
- Contains information provided under Statutory Requirement. 
- Contains information concerning certain Operating Fund financial indicators. 
- Contains glossary information.  
 
These statements are all unaudited with the exception of the following: 
- The Report of Amounts Paid to Members of the Assembly; and  
- The Northern Affairs Fund 
 
Volume 4 
 
- Contains the audited financial statements of funds, organizations, agencies and enterprises included 

in the Government Reporting Entity. 
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THE ABANDONMENT RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007  2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  355,623       172,473      
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Royalties.....................................................................................................  270,526       187,227      
 Other Recoveries........................................................................................  -                 -                 
 Interest........................................................................................................  3,953          1,360          

 274,479       188,587      

DISBURSEMENTS:   
 Rehabilitation payments..............................................................................  121,816       5,437          

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 508,286     355,623    
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DEBT RETIREMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at March 31, 2007
(in thousands)

2007 2006
$ $

ASSETS

  Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance (Note 3) 51,000        25,000      
51,000        25,000      

FUND BALANCE
  Fund Balance 51,000        25,000      

DEBT RETIREMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUE

AND FUND BALANCE
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007

(in thousands)

2007 2006
$ $

Revenue
  Interest Income 1,000           -                  

Fund Balance, beginning of year 25,000         -                  
26,000         -                  

Transfers

Transfer from the Operating Fund (Note 4) 110,495       110,495      
Transfers for Pension Obligation (Note 4) (85,495)      (85,495)     

25,000        25,000      

Fund Balance, end of year 51,000         25,000        

Page 14



 DEBT RETIREMENT FUND 
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007 
 
 
1. Incorporation and Function 
 
 The Debt Retirement Fund was established under the authority of the Balanced Budget, Debt 

Repayment and Taxpayer Protection Act, which received Royal Assent on November 3, 1995.  The 
purpose of the Fund was to assist in the orderly repayment of debt pursuant with sections 8(4) and 
8(6) of the Act.  

 
On August 18, 2000, the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Protection Amendment 
and Consequential Amendments Act was passed amending The Balanced Budget, Debt 
Repayment and Taxpayer Protection Act, with related amendments to The Fiscal Stabilization Fund 
Act and The Financial Administration Act. The Bill changed the name of the Act to The Balanced 
Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act. This Act is deemed to have come into 
force on April 1, 2000 and applies to fiscal years commencing after March 31, 2000.  

 
2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

a) Basis of Accounting 
 
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles. 
 
b) Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance 
 
 Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which approximates market value.  Portfolio 

investments are recorded at cost. 
 
3. Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance 
                 (thousands) 
          2007      2006 
              $         $  
 Cash and cash equivalents    51,000   25,000     
            
 
4. Transfer for Debt Retirement and Pension Obligation      
            

The Government transferred $110 million (2006 - $110 million) to the Debt Retirement Fund from 
the Operating Fund for the specific purpose of reducing general purpose debt and pension 
obligations with the Civil Service Superannuation Fund and the Teachers' Retirement Allowances 
Fund.  The transfer was made in accordance with subsection 8 (4) of The Balanced Budget, Debt 
Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act.  The Government transferred $85 million (2006 - $85 
million) from the Debt Retirement Fund for the specific purpose of providing for the future retirement 
of pension obligations with the Civil Service Superannuation Fund and the Teachers' Retirement 
Allowances Fund.  This transfer was made in accordance with subsection 8 (6) of The Balanced 
Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act. 
 

5. Statement of Cash Flows          
 
 A statement of cash flows has not been presented in these financial statements as no additional 

useful information would be provided by its inclusion. 
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THE FARM MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT ACT FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007  2006

$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  475,819       463,769      
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Interest Revenue.........................................................................................  18,610         12,050        

  
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  -                  -                 

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 494,429     475,819    
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FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at March 31, 2007
(in thousands)

2007 2006
$ $

ASSETS
  Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance (Note 3) 663,150    531,987      

FUND BALANCE
  Fund Balance 663,150    531,987      

FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUE 

AND FUND BALANCE
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007

(in thousands)
2007 2006

$ $

Revenue

   Interest Income 20,648        14,959        

Fund Balance, beginning of year 531,987      485,943      

552,635      500,902      

Transfers

  Transfer from the Operating Fund (Note 4) 110,515      31,085        

110,515      31,085        

Fund Balance, end of year (Note 5) 663,150    531,987      
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FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007 

 
 
1. Incorporation and Function 
 
 The Fiscal Stabilization Fund was established at March 31, 1989, under the authority of 

The Fiscal Stabilization Fund Act, which received Royal Assent on December 13, 1989.  
The legislated purpose of the Fund is to assist in stabilizing the fiscal position of the 
government from year to year and to improve long-term fiscal planning.  Under the 
provisions of the Act, the government may deposit in the Fund any part of the revenue or 
other financial assets received in the Operating Fund in any fiscal year and shall credit to 
the Fiscal Stabilization Fund any earnings from investment of the Fiscal Stabilization Fund.  
All or part of the fund balance can be transferred to the Operating Fund in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act. 

 
 On August 18, 2000, the Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Protection 

Amendment and Consequential Amendments Act was passed amending The Balanced 
Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Protection Act, with related amendments to The 
Fiscal Stabilization Fund Act and The Financial Administration Act.  

 
2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
 a)    Basis of Accounting 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles. 

 
 b) Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance 
 
  Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which approximates market value. 
 
 c) Interest Income 
 
  Funds represented by specific investments (cash equivalents) attributed to the Fund 

earn interest income based upon the rates of return of those investments less a 
nominal administrative fee.  Funds represented by cash earn interest income at the 
Bank of Canada overnight rate, less a nominal administrative fee.  Transfers from the 
Fund are deemed to have incurred at the beginning of the year and transfers to the 
Fund occur at March 31. 

 
3. Funds on Deposit with the Minister of Finance 

 
                (thousands) 
         2007              2006 
            $     $ 
 Cash and cash equivalents             663,150           531,987               
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FISCAL STABILIZATION FUND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007 

 
 
4. Transfer from the Operating Fund 
 
 The Balanced Budget, Debt Repayment and Taxpayer Accountability Act and The Fiscal 

Stabilization Fund Act require any Operating Fund positive balance to be transferred to the 
Fund until its target level is reached.  The Minister of Finance has the authority, with the 
approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, to transfer additional positive balances to 
the Fund as he considers appropriate.  The target level for the Fiscal Stabilization Fund is a 
minimum of 5% of the expenses of the Operating Fund or approximately $436 million, 
based on 2006-2007 expenses.  As reported in the Public Accounts of the Province of 
Manitoba for 2006-2007, the Operating Fund had a positive balance of $110 million (2006 - 
$31 million), which was transferred to the Fiscal Stabilization Fund. 

            
5. Fiscal Stabilization Fund by Program 

                  (thousands) 
             $     $ 

              2007              2006 
  Health Program 
   Program Fund Balance - Beginning of Year  202,411 210,067 
     Interest Earnings         7,856    6,044 
     Transfer to General Programs 
                    - Wait Time Reduction Programming               (27,419) (13,700) 
                    - Other Health Related Programming     (7,653)       -       
    
   Program Fund Balance – End of Year   175,195 202,411 
 
  General Program 
   Program Fund Balance – Beginning of Year  329,576 275,876 
     Interest Earnings       12,792     8,915 
     Recovered from Health Programs 
  - Wait Time Reduction Programming     27,419   13,700 
        - Other Health Related Programming       7,653        -   
   Transfer from the Operating Fund     
  - Year-end Positive Balance     110,515   31,085 
  Program Fund Balance – End of Year    487,955  329,576 
 
    Total Fund Balance, End of Year     663,150  531,987 
 
 

It is the Government’s policy to designate the Fiscal Stabilization Fund into two programs, the 
Health Program and the General Program.  Funds were allocated to the Health Program 
based on funds received from the Federal Government for Wait Time Reduction 
Programming and Other Health Related programming.  Interest earned by the Fiscal 
Stabilization Fund is allocated proportionately to these two programs.  As funds are 
expended related to the Health Program, the Government will designate a transfer back to 
the General Program. 

   
6. Statement of Cash Flows 
 

A statement of cash flows has not been presented in these financial statements as no 
additional useful information would be provided by its inclusion. 
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LAND TITLES ASSURANCE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007  2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year..........................................................................  148,190      125,049     
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Premiums.................................................................................................... 23,529        23,141       

  
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  1,203          -                 

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 170,516    148,190   
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MANITOBA LAW REFORM COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007  2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  40,676         47,818        
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Department of Justice................................................................................. 85,000        85,000        
 Law Society of Manitoba............................................................................. -                 -                 
 Manitoba Law Foundation...........................................................................  75,000         100,000      

 160,000       185,000      

DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  168,001       192,142      

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 32,675        40,676      
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MANITOBA TRUCKING PRODUCTIVITY IMPROVEMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007 2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year........................................................................ 181,343        -                  
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Contributions............................................................................................. -                    125,000      
 Interest...................................................................................................... 7,215           
 Miscellaneous........................................................................................... 343,661        56,343        

350,876       181,343     
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Payments.................................................................................................. -                    -                  

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................. 532,219      181,343    
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THE MINING COMMUNITY RESERVE
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007 2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year................................................................ 13,046,575  13,596,675   
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Transfer of Mining Tax Revenues.....................................................  2,924,738     1,156,550     
 Ruttan Worker Adjustment Committee Recovery............................. 50,693          -                    
 Interest received during the year......................................................  534,658         371,466        

 3,510,089      1,528,016     
 

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Hudson Bay Mining and Smelting Company Ltd..............................  -                     -                    
 RBC Financial Group........................................................................  -                    118,839        
 Snow Lake Family Resource............................................................  -                    5,967            
 Snow Lake Relocation......................................................................  -                    99,607          
 Town of Leaf Rapids......................................................................... 195,000        -                    
 Town of Lynn Lake............................................................................  26,646          47,169          
 Town of Snow Lake........................................................................... 20,000          9,979            
 Transfer to General Revenue............................................................  1,802,566     1,796,554     

 2,044,212      2,078,116     
 
 

Balance, end of year.......................................................................... 14,512,452  13,046,575   
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THE MINING REHABILITATION RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007 2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...............................................................  198,412     116,972     

 
RECEIPTS:  
 Royalties.......................................................................................... 281,066     76,755       
 Interest............................................................................................  8,745         4,685         

 289,811     81,440       
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Payments........................................................................................ 25,967        -                 

 
Balance, end of year........................................................................ 462,256   198,412   
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PENSION ASSETS FUND
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at March 31, 2007

2007 2006

ASSETS

  Funds on Deposit:
    Minister of Finance -                        2,203                
    Civil Service Superannuation Fund 323,688,626     250,180,228     
    Teacher's Retirement Allowances Fund 375,575,601     286,803,870     

699,264,227     536,986,301     
 
FUND BALANCE
  Fund Balance 699,264,227     536,986,301     

PENSION ASSETS FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS, EXPENSES

AND FUND BALANCE
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007

2007 2006

RECEIPTS

  Contributions:
     Debt Retirement Fund 85,495,180       85,495,180       
     Special Operating Agencies 1,763,402         1,769,742         
     Operating Fund 6,947,799         5,552,728         
     Crown Organizations 1,526,117         1,065,289         
  Investment earnings (loss) 67,523,877       61,549,434       

163,256,375     155,432,373     
DISBURSEMENTS
  Management fees 978,449            788,374            

Excess of receipts over disbursements 162,277,926     154,643,999     

Fund Balance, beginning of year 536,986,301     382,342,302     
Fund Balance, end of year 699,264,227     536,986,301     
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THE QUARRY REHABILITATION RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007  2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  5,901,287    5,457,422   
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Royalties.....................................................................................................  1,749,903    1,712,112   
 Interest........................................................................................................  204,450      128,689      

1,954,353   1,840,801   
  

DISBURSEMENTS:   
 Rehabilitation payments..............................................................................  1,789,061    1,396,935   

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 6,066,579  5,901,287 
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THE VETERINARY SCIENCE SCHOLARSHIP FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2007
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007 2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year.................................................................. 2,578    3,578     
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Department of Agriculture - Veterinary Services Branch.................... 8,175    10,400   
 Repayment of bursaries...................................................................... 15,600  15,600   

 23,775    26,000   
 

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Payment of bursaries awarded under the Veterinary  
  Science Scholarship Act.................................................................... 21,600  27,000   

 
 

Balance, end of year............................................................................ 4,753    2,578     
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VICTIMS ASSISTANCE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2006
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006)

2007 2006
$ $

Balance, beginning of year.......................................................................... 1,674,289  1,776,517  
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Surcharge on Provincial Fines.................................................................... 4,516,610  2,805,232  
 Interest........................................................................................................ 53,320     40,113      

 4,569,930   2,845,345  

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Operating expenses.................................................................................... 3,697,210 2,947,573  

 
Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 2,547,009  1,674,289  
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CROWN ORGANIZATIONS
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Financial Statements and Audited Reports
Ad d i ctions Fo u n d a tion of Manitoba
(incorporated under the Addictions Foundation of Manitoba Act)

Financial Sta t e m e n t s

March 31, 2007

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have
been prepared in accordance with accounting policies stated in Note 2 to the financial
statements. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared
within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding 
all necessary estimates and all other data available.

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability
and accuracy of the financial information and that the assets of the Foundation are properly
safeguarded.

The responsibility of the Auditor and their staff is to express an independent professional
opinion on whether the financial statements are fairly presented. The Auditor’s report outlines
the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

Chief Executive Officer

Director, Finance

Date

P 42

June 30, 2007
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BRANDON UNIVERSITY 
 

Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 
 
 
The Office of the Vice-President (Administration & Finance) of Brandon University is 
responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements and accompanying 
notes.  The financial statements are prepared in conformity with the accounting policies noted 
in the financial statements, and are reviewed and approved by the Board of Governors.  The 
statements are examined by the Provincial Auditor of the Province of Manitoba, whose 
opinion is included herein. 
 
To fulfil its responsibility, the University maintains internal control systems to provide 
reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Scott Stewart Scott J. B. Lamont, CGA, MBA 
Treasurer, Board of Governors Vice-President (Administration & Finance) 
 
 
May 11, 2007 
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Brandon University 
 
Statement of Financial Position 
 as at March 31, 2007 
 
 
ASSETS 
 2007 2006 
Current Assets 
     Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) $ 6,765,842  $ 4,574,416  
     Accounts receivable  1,685,569   3,411,212  
     Inventory  409,040   429,030  
     Prepaid expenses  253,958   307,076  
 
  9,114,409   8,721,734  
 
Loan receivable (note 8)  -   43,560  
 
Capital Assets and Collections (notes 2E and 6)  40,945,646   41,466,193  
 
 $ 50,060,055  $ 50,231,487  
 
 
 
 
LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 
 2007 2006 
Current Liabilities 
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 3,554,663  $ 3,417,483  
    Deferred income  248,437   304,233  
    Deferred contributions (note 7)  2,865,905   2,355,353  
    Current portion of long term debt (note 11)  103,985   97,990  
 
  6,772,990   6,175,059  
Long term Liability 
    Mortgages payable (note 11)  1,426,420   1,530,405  
 
Unamortized Deferred Capital Contributions (note 7)  32,156,051   33,717,703  
 
Net Assets 
    Unrestricted net assets  1,914,538   2,192,761  
    Internally restricted net assets (note 5)  530,864   495,462  
    Investment in capital assets and collections  7,259,192   6,120,097  
 
  9,704,594   8,808,320  
 
 $ 50,060,055  $ 50,231,487  
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by the Brandon University 
Board of Governors on June 28, 2007 
 
 
____________________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Treasurer Vice-President (Administration & Finance) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

1 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

2 

 
Brandon University 
 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 for the year ended March 31, 2007 
 
 Internally  Investment in 
 Unrestricted Restricted Capital Assets Total Total 
 Net Assets Net Assets and Collections 2007 2006 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,192,761  $ 495,462  $ 6,120,097  $ 8,808,320  $ 7,633,023  
Reclassify account balances  (2,753)         (2,753)     
Restated balance, beginning of year  2,190,008   495,462   6,120,097   8,805,567   7,633,023  
 
 
Excess of revenues over expenses  857,887         857,887   1,142,033  
 
Direct increases to net assets 
 Donations of capital assets    41,140   41,140   33,264  
 
Transfers 
     Internally funded  
       Capital asset additions  (1,732,804)      1,732,804        
  Capital asset disposals (net)  12,400      (12,400)        
       Amortization    720,439      (720,439)        
       Repayment of long term debt  (97,990)      97,990        
 
   Allocation to internally restricted  
           net assets  (186,342)   186,342           
   Internally restricted 
 net asset purchases  150,940   (150,940)           
 
 
Balance, end of year $ 1,914,538  $ 530,864  $ 7,259,192  $ 9,704,594  $ 8,808,320  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Brandon University 
 
Statement of Operations 
 for the Year Ended March 31, 2007 
 
  2007 2006 
 
Revenues 
 
 Tuition fees and other student fees $ 9,679,692  $ 9,887,643  
 Grants 
 Council on Post-Secondary Education  27,714,213   26,876,891  
 Province of Manitoba  540,403   420,029  
 Government of Canada  1,768,023   1,914,228  
 Sales of goods and services  6,440,886   5,963,612  
 Brandon University Foundation  2,071,568   1,785,291  
 Amortization of deferred capital contributions  2,281,090   1,617,527  
 Gain on disposal of capital assets  76,985     
 Miscellaneous  1,148,058   781,544  
 
   51,720,918   49,246,765  
 
 
 
Expenses 
 
 Salaries - academic  17,510,541   16,892,662  
 Salaries - support  11,340,040   11,137,176  
 Benefits  4,375,852   4,229,867  
 Travel  1,662,348   1,723,307  
 Supplies and consumable expenses  7,109,619   6,003,625  
 Major renovations  1,375,570   374,687  
 Property taxes  134,175   499,893  
 Utilities  1,207,085   1,348,042  
 Cost of goods sold  1,915,022   1,923,986  
 Scholarships and bursaries  1,005,420   980,786  
 Interest on long term debt  118,598   124,490  
 Amortization expense  3,001,530   2,816,828  
 Loss on disposal of capital assets     999  
 Increase in amount of accrued expenses  107,231   48,384  
 
   50,863,031   48,104,732  
 
 
Excess of revenues over expenses $ 857,887  $ 1,142,033  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Brandon University 
 
Statement of Cash Flow 
 for the Year Ended March 31, 2007 
 
 
  2007 2006 
 
Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 
 Excess of revenues over expenses $ 857,887  $ 1,142,033  
 Items not affecting cash flow 
 Amortization of deferred capital contributions  (2,281,090)   (1,617,527)  
 Amortization of capital assets  3,001,530   2,816,828  
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of capital assets  (76,985)   999  
 Increase in non-cash operating working capital  2,387,934   (1,417,831)  
 
   3,889,276   924,502  
 
Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities 
 Decrease in loan receivable  43,560   6,996  
 Capital asset additions  (2,493,383)   (2,485,483)  
 Proceeds on disposal of capital assets  89,385   3,092  
 
   (2,360,438)   (2,475,395)  
 
Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities 
 Long term debt repayments  (97,990)   (92,097)  
 Capital contributions received  760,578   1,082,729  
 
   662,588   990,632  
 
Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,191,426   (560,261)  
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  4,574,416   5,134,677  
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,765,842  $ 4,574,416  
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Brandon University 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2007 

 
 
 
1. Authority and Purpose 
 

Brandon University operates under the authority of the Brandon University Act of the Province of Manitoba.  
Brandon University offers undergraduate programs in arts, science, education, music, and health studies; and 
offers graduate programs in education, music and rural development.  The University is a registered charity and 
is exempt from the payment of  income taxes. 

 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices 
 
 A. General 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles for not-for-profit organizations. 
 

 B. Revenue Recognition  
 

Operating grants are recognized as revenue in the period received.  Revenues received for the provision of 
goods and services are recognized in the period in which the goods are provided or the services rendered 
or substantially rendered and collection is reasonably assured.   
 
The University accounts for contributions using the deferral method.  Deferred contributions are 
externally restricted non-capital contributions which are deferred and are recognized as revenue in the 
period in which the related expenses are incurred.  Externally restricted amounts can only be used for the 
purposes designated by external parties. 
 
Externally restricted contributions for the acquisition of capital assets having limited lives are recorded as 
deferred capital contributions in the period in which they are received and, when expended, are 
transferred to unamortized deferred capital contributions.  Unamortized deferred capital contributions are 
recognized as earned revenue in the periods in which the related amortization expense of the funded 
capital asset is recorded. 
 

 C. Short Term Investments 
 

Short term investments are recorded at cost and are unspent operating, capital and  restricted funds that 
are invested to generate income used to fund general operations of the University.  Short term investments 
also includes a mutual fund that provides a benefit provision for a former WESTARC employee as a part 
of that individual's contract of employment. 

  
D. Brandon University Foundation 

 
Funds transferred from the Brandon University Foundation to the University are recorded as revenue in 
the period they were received by the University.   
 
The accounts of the Brandon University Foundation do not form part of the financial statements of the 
University.  The financial statements of the Foundation are audited on an annual basis. 

  5 
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Brandon University 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2007 

 
 
E. Capital Assets and Collections 

 
Capital assets purchased by the University are recorded at cost.  Donated assets are recorded at the fair 
market value on the date received.  On the disposition of a capital asset, both the cost and any 
accumulated amortization are removed from the accounts. 
 
Capital assets are amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.  
Amortization rates are as follows: 

 
 Buildings 50 years 
 Furnishings and equipment 10 years 
 Computer equipment   5 years 
 Vehicles   5 years 
 Library collections 10 years 
 

The capital assets include collections of works of art, gemstones and rare books which have been donated 
to the University.  These collections are not amortized. 

  
F. Inventory 

 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
 

G. Pension Plans 
 

The University contributes to the Brandon University Retirement Plan which is a trustee-administered 
pension plan for University employees.  Contributions by the University are recorded as expenses. 
 
The accounts of the Brandon University Retirement Plan do not form part of the financial statements of 
the University.  The Auditor General audits the financial statements of the Plan. 
 

H. Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period.  Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the allowance for doubtful 
accounts and determination of useful lives of capital assets for amortization.  Actual results could differ 
from these estimates. 
 
 

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are summarized as follows: 
 2007 2006 
 

 Cash  $ 2,882,968  $ 1,827,047  
 Short term investments  3,835,876   2,700,371  
 Mutual funds  46,998   46,998  
 
  $ 6,765,842  $ 4,574,416  
 

  6 
 The fair market value of the short term investments and mutual funds is $   3,906,658    (2006 -$   2,767,415   ). 

Page 78



Brandon University 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2007 

 
 
4. Brandon University Foundation 
 

The Brandon University Foundation operates under the authority of the Brandon University Foundation Act.  
The Foundation is dedicated to promoting the advancement of higher education at Brandon University and 
improving the quality of its facilities and activities by raising funds for future operation and capital 
expenditures, research and student awards. 
 
Brandon University Foundation is not a controlled entity of Brandon University however, in the event of the  
dissolution of the Foundation, after the payment of all debts and liabilities, any remaining rights, property and 
assets of the Foundation shall be transferred or assigned to Brandon University as long as it is at that time a 
charitable, non-profit corporation. 
 
The Foundation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.  The investments of the 
Foundation are recorded at cost.  The financial position of the Foundation as at December 31 is summarized as 
follows: 
 

 Statement of Financial Position 
 2006 2005 
 

 Assets $ 35,342,145  $ 27,553,976  
 
 
 Liabilities $ 1,523,664  $ 1,124,044  
 Deferred contributions  7,386,303   2,482,454   
 
 Net Assets 
 Unrestricted and internally restricted net assets  385,328   131,010  
 Endowment funds  26,046,850   23,816,468  
 
   26,432,178   23,947,478  
 
 Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 35,342,145  $ 27,553,976  
 
 Statement of Operations 
 2006 2005 
 
 Revenue 
 Investment income $ 1,100,089  $ 666,076  
 Donations  596,138   748,507  
 Other contributions  206,647   259,184   
 
   1,902,874   1,673,767  
 
 Expense 
 Grants to Brandon University  1,119,422   980,768  
 Scholarships and bursaries  758,982   711,693  
 Campaign expenses - BU & You  448,736     
 Other expenses  64,081   38,242  
 
   2,391,221   1,730,703  
 

  7 
 Net loss for the year $ (488,347)  $ (56,936)  
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The net result of the transactions from January 1, 2007    to March 31, 2007    was a gain of  $   643,509     
(2006 -  $   288,757   ) and an unrealized investment  loss of $   746,457     (2006 - $   -   ).  
 
The value of outstanding pledges to the Foundation as at March 31, 2007 is $   651,405    (2006 - $   870,008   
).  These will be recorded as revenue by the University when transferred to the University from the Foundation. 
 
 

5. Internally Restricted Net Assets 
 

Internally restricted net assets represent amounts set aside by the University for the following specific 
purposes: 
 
  2007 
 Opening Current  Closing 
 Balance Provision Purchases Balance 
 
 Ancillary Services $ 294,467  $ 137,790  $   $ 432,257  
 Building renovations  88,890      (88,890)     
 Facility & Wellness Fee  23,862         23,862  
 Mail/Print services   1,350      (37,789)   (36,439)  
 Telephone replacement  72,984   48,552   (24,261)   97,275  
 Vehicle replacement  13,909         13,909  
 
 $ 495,462  $ 186,342  $ (150,940)  $ 530,864  
 
 

6. Capital Assets and Collections 
 
 2007 2006 
 Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
 Cost Amortization Value Value 
 

Land $ 498,680  $   $ 498,680  $ 500,530  
Buildings   63,882,710   (33,380,218)   30,502,492   31,822,754  
Furniture and equipment  17,995,634   (11,546,304)   6,449,330   5,809,529  
Library collections  7,935,188   (5,626,260)   2,308,928   2,188,304  
Collections  1,186,216      1,186,216   1,145,076  
 
 $ 91,498,428  $(50,552,782)  $ 40,945,646  $ 41,466,193  
 
Capital asset additions during the year included donations in kind in the amount of $   41,140    (2006- $   

33,264   ).  
 

  8 
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7. Deferred Contributions and Unamortized Deferred Capital Contributions 
 

Deferred contributions represent contributions received for special purposes and unspent funds for restricted 
purposes.  Unamortized deferred capital contributions represent the funded portion of capital assets which will 
be recognized as revenue in future periods and matched against the applicable amortization charged in that 
period.  Changes in the deferred contributions and unamortized deferred capital contributions balances are as 
follows: 
 
 2007 2007 2006 2006 
  Unamortized  Unamortized 
  Deferred  Deferred 
 Deferred Capital Deferred Capital 
 Contributions Contributions Contributions Contributions 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,355,353  $ 33,717,703  $ 2,699,202  $ 34,285,765  
 
Contributions received  7,754,056      7,369,601     
Transfers to revenue 
 Tuition, grants and contributions  (6,524,066)      (6,663,985)     
 Amortization of assets acquired 
              from capital assets     (2,281,090)      (1,617,527)  
 
Transferred to acquire capital assets  (719,438)   719,438   (1,049,465)   1,049,465  
 
Balance, end of year $ 2,865,905  $ 32,156,051  $ 2,355,353  $ 33,717,703  
 
Balance consists of: 
 Research $ 2,374,679   $ 2,006,055  
 Special programs  491,226    349,298  
  $ 2,865,905   $ 2,355,353  

 
 
8.  Loan Receivable 
 

The University issued a loan of $96,240 to Bran-U-Day Care Inc. on April 1, 1995 to cover the remaining debt 
on the building.  The terms are weekly installments of $173.73 continuing weekly up to and including the 1st 
day of June, 2009.  The rate of interest for this 5 year period is the 5-year variable rate charged by CIBC to 
residential customers.   
 
On March 31, 2007 Bran-U-Daycare retired the loan. 
 
The loan receivable as at March 31, 2007, was $   -    (2006- $   43,560   ). 

 
 
9. Pension Plans 
 

  9 

The Brandon University Retirement Plan is a final average contributory defined benefit pension plan 
established April 1, 1974 for the benefit of the employees of Brandon University. The assets of the Plan are 
held by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company in the name of ten trustees - eight elected by and 
from the Plan membership and two appointed by the Board of Governors. The trustees oversee the 
administration of the Plan and set forth the investment guidelines.  Their obligations and responsibilities are 
defined in a trust agreement with Brandon University.  Connor, Clark & Lunn Investment Management Ltd. 
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invests the Plan assets according to an agreement  with the trustees and as required by law.  The Plan is 
registered with the Pension Commission of Manitoba and meets the requirements of the Pension Benefits  Act 
of Manitoba.  Unless otherwise stated, all Brandon University employees are eligible to become members of 
the Plan on their date of employment.  Full-time and certain part-time employees are required to join the Plan. 
Membership is optional for other part-time and certain specified employees.  The Plan receives its funds from 
the contributions of members, the required and special contributions of Brandon University and the income 
from investments. 
 
Actuarial valuations of the Brandon University Retirement Plan are carried out every three years and provide 
an estimate of the accrued pension benefits.  The actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits was 
determined using the accrued benefit method prorated on service and using assumptions recommended by the 
actuary and approved by the Trustees.  Based on the latest actuarial valuation of the plan conducted by Eckler 
Ltd., a firm of consulting actuaries, as at December 31, 2006 the accrued pension benefits were $91,657,000.  
This valuation established a Plan surplus of $4,053,000 using the accrued benefit method as at that date.  The 
next actuarial valuation is required as at December 31, 2009 and will be completed in 2010.  
 
The actuarial present value of pension benefits as at December 31, and the principal components of changes in 
the actuarial present values during the year, were as follows: 
 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 2006 2005 

 
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, beginning of year $ 83,453  $ 79,492  
Interest accrued on benefits  5,000   4,746  
Benefits accrued  3,445   3,173  
Benefits paid  (3,680)   (3,958)  
Actuarial gain  3,439     
 
Actuarial present value of accrued pension benefits, end of year $ 91,657  $ 83,453  
 
The assumptions used in determining the actuarial value of accrued pension benefits were developed by 
reference to expected long-term market conditions.  Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation at 
December 31, 2006 were: 
 
     Rate of return on investments  5.75% 
     Rate of salary increases  4.00% 
 
The actuarial value of net assets available for pension benefits has been determined at amounts that reflect 
long-term market trends (consistent with the assumptions underlying the valuation of accrued pension benefits).  
The valuation is based on a four-year moving average market method with the market value being the 
underlying basis.  The method has been slightly modified this year.  Last year, the market value was adjusted 
by amortizing the fund's gains or losses over a four year period.  This year, the market value has been adjusted 
by amortizing over a four year period the differences in each year between the fund's actual return and a 5.75% 
return. 
 
The actuarial values of net assets as at December 31 were: 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 2006 2005 
 
Market value of net assets available for pension benefits $ 103,318  $ 92,509  
Market value changes not reflected in the actuarial value of net assets  (7,608)   (9,551)  
 

  10 
Actuarial value of net assets available for pension benefits $ 95,710  $ 82,958  
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Pension contributions by the University for the year ended March 31, 2007 were $   1,606,957    (2006 - $   
1,608,522   ). 

 
 
10.   Accrued Expenses 
 
 The following expenses have been accrued and will be funded from future revenues: 
 

 2007 2006 
 
 Unfunded employee vacation accruals $ 713,114  $ 667,455  
 Unfunded employee future benefits  888,000   810,000  
 Unfunded property taxes  33,544   49,972  
 
 $ 1,634,658  $ 1,527,427  
 
 

11. Long Term Liability - Mortgages Payable  
 2007 2006  
 

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
5 1/8% mortgage, $41,608 combined principal and interest 
payable semi-annually July 1 and January 1 to 2012.  $ 394,487  $ 455,144  
 
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
8 1/4% mortgage, $66,686 combined principal and interest 
payable semi-annually April 1 and October 1 to 2021.  1,135,918   1,173,251  
 
  1,530,405   1,628,395  
 
Current portion of long term debt  103,985   97,990  

 
 $ 1,426,420  $ 1,530,405  
 
 Interest paid $ 118,598  $ 124,490  
 

  Principal payments in the next five years are as follows: 
 
 2008 $ 103,985  
 2009 $ 111,001  
 2010 $ 118,181  
 2011 $ 125,852  
 2012 $ 134,050  

 
 
12. Brandon Centennial Auditorium Corporation Inc. 
 

  11 

Under an arrangement between the University, the Province of Manitoba and the City of Brandon, the 
University built an Auditorium on its property for the benefit of the citizens of Western Manitoba.  The 
expenditures for the building and furnishings were financed from contributions by the Governments of Canada 
and Manitoba, the City of Brandon and citizens through fundraising campaigns. 
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The Auditorium has been leased to the Brandon Centennial Auditorium Corporation Inc. for a nominal 
consideration of $1 under a 99 year lease which expires 2064 A.D.  The University is reimbursed for services 
supplied to the auditorium as required by the agreement. 
 
 

13. Knowles-Douglas Student Union Centre 
 

The Knowles-Douglas Student Union Centre has been leased to the Knowles- Douglas Student Union Centre 
Inc. for the nominal consideration of $1 per year under a 50 year lease which expires 2035 A.D.  The 
University supplies certain services to the Centre as required by the lease. 

 
 
14.   Commitments 
 

An agreement between the University and the Brandon University Students' Union Inc. provides for the equal 
sharing of profits of the University's bookstore operations.  The Students' Union share of profits amounted to $   
47,048    for the year ended March 31, 2007 (2006 - $   73,850   ). 

 
 
15. Employee Future Benefits 
 

The University provides severance and retiring allowance benefits based on length of service and final 
earnings, payable on retirement.  Accounting standards require the recognition of a liability and an expense for 
such employee future benefits in the period in which the employee renders service in return for the benefits.  
The recognition date for rendered service begins on the hiring date or the date when credited service begins, 
and runs until the date when full eligibility is attained.  The cost of these future benefits earned by employees is 
determined by an actuary using the projected benefit method pro rated on service and management's best 
estimates for the discount rate for liabilities, the rate of salary escalation and the retirement ages of employees.  
The discount rate used to determine the accrued benefit obligation was determined by reference to market 
interest rates at the measurement date on high-quality debt instruments with cash flows that match the timing 
and amount of expected benefit payments.  There are no assets supporting the plan benefits. 
 
The transitional obligation arising from the adoption of the accounting standard was fully recognized as at the 
adoption date of April 1, 2000.  Subsequent actuarial gains or losses are fully recognized in the year 
immediately following the year in which they arise.  The most recent actuarial valuation was as at March 31, 
2005 with the next valuation due at at March 31, 2009. 
 
The accrued benefit liability for employee future benefits is reported in the University's Statement of Financial 
Position under Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 

 Information about the University's employee future benefits is as follows: 
 2007 2006 
 Net benefit cost $ 118,000  $ 180,000  
 Accrued benefit obligation  888,000   810,000  
 Accrued benefit liability  881,000   788,000  
 Unamortized actuarial loss  (7,000)   (22,000)  
 Employer's contributions  25,000   58,000  
 Benefits paid  25,000   58,000  

  12 
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The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the University's accrued benefit liability and benfit 
costs are as follows: 
   2007  2006 
 
 Discount rate 4.9% 5.0% 
 Rate of compensation increase 
 IUOE(A) 3.0% 3.0% 
 IUOE(D) 5.0% 5.0% 
 MGEU 5.0% 5.0% 
 Exempt MPO 7.5% 7.5% 
 Exempt ESS 5.0% 5.0% 

 
 
16. Financial Instruments 
 

The financial instruments of the University consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,  
long-term investments, accounts payable and long-term debt.  Unless otherwise noted, it is management's 
opinion that the University is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these 
financial instruments.   

 
 
17.  Restatement of Accounts 
 

Comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2006 have been restated where necessary to conform with 
the presentation adopted for the year ended March 31, 2007.   

  13 
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LE CENTRE CULTUREL FRANCO-MANITOBAIN 
Statement of Financial Position 

March 31 2007  2006  

Assets 
Current Assets 

Cash and bank    $ -  $ 2,654  
Grants receivable      92,763   129,338  
Accounts receivable      42,407   36,664  
Inventory      3,999   3,753  
Prepaid expenses     22,686   13,196  

 
  161,855   185,605  

 
Non-Current Assets 

Accounts receivable - Province of Manitoba (Note 9)     25,891   25,891  
Accounts receivable      3,613   6,313  
Capital assets (Note 3)     43,298   54,868  
Deferred charges    6,280   8,118  

 
    79,082   95,190  

 
 $ 240,937  $ 280,795  

 
Liabilities and Fund Balances 
Current Liabilities 

Bank indebtedness     $ 85,574  $ -  
Working capital advance - Province of Manitoba (Note 4)     -   100,000  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      51,719   98,921  
Deferred contributions (Note 5)     6,059   8,228  
Rental and damage deposits     20,500   26,975  

  163,852   234,124  

Deferred contributions related to capital assets (Note 6)     37,463   47,575  
 

  201,315   281,699  
 

Fund Balances 
Unrestricted Funds 

Operations     50,709   (31,631)  
Cultural Programs     (16,922)   23,434  

Invested in capital assets    5,835   7,293  
 

  39,622   (904)  
 

 $ 240,937  $ 280,795  
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 

 Director 

 Director 
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 LE CENTRE CULTUREL FRANCO-MANITOBAIN 
 Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006  

  Cultural  Fund 
 Operations Programs Capital Raising Total  Total  
Revenue 
Administration fees $ 241  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 241  $ 581  
Admission fees  -   20,712   -   -   20,712   34,980  
Bar  38,619   -   -   -   38,619   54,372  
Bingos  -   -   -   -   -   3,000  
Commissions  1,600   7,122   -   -   8,722   7,759  
Corporate sponsorship and donations  211   6,446   -   -   6,657   15,744  
Grants                   

Government of Canada  -   172,734   -   -   172,734   179,422  
Government of Manitoba  412,038   20,000   72,216   -   504,254   569,756  
Miscellaneous  2,000   39,724   -   -   41,724   28,300  

Interest  5,182   -   -   -   5,182   2,651  
Miscellaneous (Note 12)  79,377   9,468   -   -   88,845   75,359  
Rent (Note 10)  254,538   -   -   -   254,538   208,390  
Sale of office supplies and other  9,632   -   -   -   9,632   4,826  
Technical services  54,842   -   -   -   54,842   59,615  

  858,280   276,206   72,216   -   1,206,702   1,244,755  
Expenses 
Amortization of capital assets  -   -   11,570   -   11,570   14,784  
Catering and bar  47,154   -   -   -   47,154   51,520  
Fundraising - Bingos  -   -   -   10   10   -  
Operations (Note 7)  728,776   316,562   -   -   1,045,338   1,008,235  
Repairs (Note 8)  -   -   62,104   -   62,104   139,696  

  775,930   316,562   73,674   10   1,166,176   1,214,235  

Excess (deficiency) of revenue 
 over expenses for the year 

 
 82,350  

 
 (40,356)  

 
 (1,458)  

 
 (10)  

 
 40,526  

 
 30,520  

Fund balances, beginning of year  (31,631)   23,434   7,293   -   (904)   (31,424)  

Interfund transfers  (10)   -   -   10   -   -  
 

Fund balances, end of year $ 50,709  $ (16,922)  $ 5,835  $ -  $ 39,622  $ (904)  
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LE CENTRE CULTUREL FRANCO-MANITOBAIN 
  Statement of Cash Flows 

 
For the year ended March 31 2007  2006  

Cash Flows Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities 
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year $ 40,526  $ 30,520  
Amortization of capital assets  11,570   14,784  
Amortization of deferred contributions related to capital assets  (10,112)   (12,960)  
Net change in non-cash working capital items 

Grants receivable  36,575   75,040  
Accounts receivable  (3,043)   (12,199)  
Inventory  (246)   2,811  
Prepaid expenses  (9,490)   14,187  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (47,202)   (170,692)  
Deferred charges  1,838   (449)  
Deferred contributions  (2,169)   (437)  
Rental and damage deposits  (6,475)   3,112  

 
Net cash (outflows) inflows for operating activities  11,772   (56,283)  

 
Cash Flows Provided by (Used for) Financing and Investing Activities 

Working capital advance received from the Province of Manitoba  -   100,000  
Repayment of working capital advance to the Province of  
 Manitoba  (100,000)   (100,000)  

 
Net cash outflows for financing and investing activities  (100,000)   -  

 
Decrease in cash and bank for the year  (88,228)   (56,283)  

Cash and bank (bank indebtedness), beginning of year  2,654   58,937  
 

Cash and bank (bank indebtedness), end of year $ (85,574)  $ 2,654  
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1. General Information     

Le Centre culturel franco-manitobain was incorporated under Chapter C45 of the Statutes of 
the Province of Manitoba. The corporation's objects are to maintain, encourage, foster and 
sponsor, by all means available, all types of cultural activities in the French language and to 
make French-Canadian culture known to all residents of the province. 

2. Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Accounting 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

(b) Capital Assets 

Acquired capital assets are stated at their acquisition cost less accumulated amortization 
and are amortized using the diminishing balance method at the following annual rates: 

Technical equipment 20% 
Computer equipment 30% 
Kitchen equipment 20% 
Cash registers 20% 
Furniture and fixtures 20% 
Security system 20% 
Maintenance equipment 20% 

(c) Use of Building 

The use of the building is accounted for as described in Note 10. 

(d) Recognition of Revenue 

The corporation follows the deferred method of accounting for contributions. 

Grants received for specific projects are recognized as revenue in the year in which the 
related expenses are incurred. The remaining balance of grants received is accounted for 
as deferred contributions in the statement of financial position.  

Catering and bar services, hall, office and other rentals, technical services and 
miscellaneous revenue are recognized as revenue when the services are rendered if the 
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably 
assured. 

Admission fees are recognized as revenue when the event has occurred if the amount to 
be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
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2. Accounting Policies (continued) 

(e) Fund Balances 

The financial resources of the corporation are allocated to four funds corresponding to 
the corporation's activities and objectives as follows: 

Unrestricted Funds 

Operations - Includes transactions related to the maintenance of facilities and the general 
operations of the corporation. 

Cultural Programs - Includes transactions related to the delivery of cultural programs as 
outlined in the objectives of the corporation. Annually, the corporation determines the 
value of the space used for cultural programs based on the rate normally charged to 
other tenants and charges this amount to the Cultural Programs Fund (see Note 7 - 
$18,099 in 2006). 

Restricted Funds 

Capital - Involves external restrictions and is used for recording major repairs related to 
the building's operations as well as the amortization of capital assets. At year end, an 
interfund transfer is recorded from the Operations Fund to the Capital Fund representing 
the corporation's net investment in capital assets. 

Fundraising - Includes transactions related to fundraising activities. The fund balance 
must be used to subsidize cultural activities and is included in the interfund transfers. 

(f) Inventory 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, using the first-in-first-out method, and net 
realizable value. 

(g) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting policies requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from management's best estimates, as additional information 
becomes available in the future. 
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3. Capital Assets           

 2007  2006  
 

 Accumulated  Accumulated  
 Cost  Amortization  Cost  Amortization  

 
Technical equipment $ 136,932  $ 118,702  $ 136,932  $ 114,145  
Computer equipment  124,008   119,826   124,008   118,034  
Kitchen equipment  14,107   8,960   14,107   7,673  
Cash registers  5,200   4,887   5,200   4,809  
Furniture and fixtures  11,673   8,327   11,673   7,491  
Security system  17,580   14,631   17,580   13,894  
Maintenance equipment  26,411   17,280   26,411   14,997  

 
 $ 335,911  $ 292,613  $ 335,911  $ 281,043  

 
Net book value $ 43,298  $ 54,868  

 

4. Working Capital Advance - Province of Manitoba      

The working capital advance granted by the Province of Manitoba at March 31, 2007 is nil 
($100,000 in 2006). 

5. Deferred Contributions     

Deferred contributions represent unspent resources received during the year related to 
matching expenses of subsequent periods. 

 2007  2006  
 

Balance, beginning of year $ 8,228  $ 8,665  
Grants and other amounts received during the year  56,960   147,924  
Less amounts recognized as revenue during the year 

Operations Fund  2,975   (8,665)  
Capital Fund (Note 8)  (62,104)   (139,696)  

 
Balance, end of year $ 6,059  $ 8,228  
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6. Deferred Contributions Related to Capital Assets           

Deferred contributions related to capital assets amount to $37,463 at March 31, 2007  
($47,575 in 2006) and represent the unamortized portion of grants received with which capital 
assets have been purchased. 

Changes in deferred contributions related to capital assets are as follows: 

 2007  2006  
 

Balance, beginning of year $ 47,575  $ 60,535  
Grants received during the year  -   -  
Amount amortized to revenue  (10,112)   (12,960)  

 
Balance, end of year $ 37,463  $ 47,575  

 

7. Operations Funds and Cultural Programs Fund Expenses         

 2007  2006  
 

  Cultural  
 Operations  Programs  Total  Total  

 
Advertising and promotion $ 5,343  $ 13,118  $ 18,461  $ 22,530  
Bad debts  35   -   35   96  
Bank charges and interest  6,981   -   6,981   9,077  
Employment contracts  62,630   83,450   146,080   136,603  
Equipment purchase  15,176   -   15,176   4,021  
Equipment rental and 
  maintenance  54,261   2,691   56,952   45,063  
Insurance and permits  18,847   2,698   21,545   18,739  
Internal rental  (13,858)   13,858   -   -  
Meetings and travel  9,205   19,663   28,868   16,065  
Miscellaneous  955   2,234   3,189   13,303  
Office  29,074   4,282   33,356   19,364  
Pension  4,779   1,324   6,103   9,168  
Professional fees  24,713   -   24,713   23,980  
Salaries and benefits (Note 12) 368,766   172,613   541,379   555,129  
Supplies  23,315   550   23,865   28,513  
Training  1,659   81   1,740   464  
Utilities and outside 
 maintenance (Note 12)       116,895   -   116,895   106,120  

 
 $ 728,776  $ 316,562  $ 1,045,338   $   1,008,235 
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8. Capital Fund Expenses         

 2007  2006  
 

Asbestos removal and renovation of front entrance $ -  $ 117,690  
Material  19,670   8,175  
Office equipment  -   3,472  
Repairs and maintenance  42,434   10,359  

 
 $ 62,104  $ 139,696  

 

9. Vacation Pay Receivable         

Effective March 31, 1995, the corporation commenced recording the estimated liability for 
vacation pay for its employees. The amount of this estimated liability is determined on March 
31 of each year based on eligible vacation entitlements. 

The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for the vacation pay benefits 
accumulated to March 31, 1995 by the corporation's employees. Accordingly, the corporation 
recorded, effective March 31, 1995, a receivable of $25,891 from the Province of Manitoba, 
which is an amount that is equal to the estimated liability for vacation pay benefits at March 
31, 1995. 

This receivable from the Province of Manitoba has no terms of repayment and, accordingly, 
the amount of this receivable will remain fixed at $25,891.  

10. Use of Building         

The building used by the corporation is owned by the Province of Manitoba and is made 
available to the corporation rent-free. The corporation is responsible for all operating and 
maintenance costs including third party liability insurance. 

The corporation charges rent to all tenants, groups and organization that make use of the 
building. This rental revenue is retained by the corporation and recorded as revenue in the 
Operations Fund, thereby reducing the corporation's reliance on funding from the Province. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

March 31, 2007 

 11 

11. Financial Instruments         

The financial instruments consist of grants receivable, accounts receivable, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities. It is the management's opinion that the corporation is not exposed to 
significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.   

12. Centre du Patrimoine         

The capital costs of this archival centre were funded equally by the Governments of Canada 
and Manitoba. Ownership of the corporation is that of the Province of Manitoba. The 
corporation is operated by La Société historique de Saint-Boniface (SHSB). 

Le Centre culturel franco-manitobain (CCFM) pays utility and maintenance costs related to the 
archival centre. Those utility and maintenance costs are recorded in utilities and salaries and 
benefits expenses (Note 7). CCFM recovers the utility and maintenance costs from the SHSB. 
Those recoveries are recorded in miscellaneous revenue and amount to $51,334 in 2007 
($53,822 in 2006). 

 

Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



BDO Dunwoody LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in Ontario
BDO Dunwoody s.r.l. est une société à responsabilité limitée constituée en Ontario 2

BDO Dunwoody LLP/s.r.l.
Chartered Accountants and Advisors
Comptables agréés et conseillers

700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Winnipeg  Manitoba  Canada  R3C 4L5
Telephone/Téléphone: (204) 956-7200
Fax/Télécopieur: (204) 926-7201
Toll Free/Sans frais: 1-800-268-3337
www.bdo.ca

Auditors' Report

To the Directors of
COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND

We have audited the statement of financial position of COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT FUND as at March 31, 2007 and the statements of operations and cash flows for
the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Fund as at March 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 18, 2007
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Statement of Financial Position

March 31 2007 2006

Assets

Current Assets
Cash $ 625,411 $ 289,347
Trust deposits - Province of Manitoba 7,627 1,329,818
Due from the Province of Manitoba (Note 2) 2,104,903 2,028,844
Accounts receivable 106,294 64,078
Property held for resale 4,879 153,808
Prepaid expenses 13,991 7,242

2,863,105 3,873,137

Loans receivable (Note 3) 21,393,330 19,610,537

Capital assets (Note 4) 14,834 17,151

$ 24,271,269 $ 23,500,825

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,063,168 $ 349,568
Interest payable to the Province of Manitoba 405,198 352,821

1,468,366 702,389
Commitments (Notes 5 and 6)

Accrued pension liability 1,765,596 1,637,502

Advance by the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) 21,037,307 21,160,934

$ 24,271,269 $ 23,500,825

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Director

Director

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Statement of Operations

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006

Revenue
Loan interest

TEAM $ 3,150 $ 4,117
Business program 866,176 876,937
Fisheries program 991,478 938,066
Investment income 60,764 34,496

1,921,568 1,853,616

Cost of Funds
Interest paid to the Province of Manitoba

Business program 480,213 455,950
Life insurance 73,421 73,853
Trust line of credit 105,555 75,844
Fisheries program 564,986 558,424

1,224,175 1,164,071

Gross margin 697,393 689,545

Operating expenditures (Page 15) 1,636,677 1,783,687

(939,284) (1,094,142)

Other income - administration fees 52,926 81,680

Deficiency of revenue over expenditures
before provision for doubtful loans (886,358) (1,012,462)

Provision for doubtful loans - regular operations 627,803 501,374

Deficiency of revenue over expenditures
before subsidy due from the Province of Manitoba (1,514,161) (1,513,836)

Subsidy due from the Province of Manitoba 1,514,161 1,513,836

Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year $ - $ -

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Deficiency before subsidy $ (1,514,161) $ (1,513,836)
Adjustments for

Amortization of capital assets 6,703 10,476
Provision for doubtful loans 627,803 501,374

(879,655) (1,001,986)

Accounts receivable (42,216) (30,118)
Accrued interest receivable (168,963) 72,242
Prepaid expenses (6,749) (1,124)
Accounts payable 713,600 (587,357)
Accrued interest payable 52,377 (158,833)
Accrued pension liability 128,094 (10,365)

(203,512) (1,717,541)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
(Increase) decrease - Due from the Province of Manitoba (76,059) 91,378
Increase (decrease ) - Advance by the Province of Manitoba (123,627) 890,937
Subsidy - Province of Manitoba 1,514,161 1,513,836

1,314,475 2,496,151

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Loans receivable, net of repayments (3,563,826) 637,870
Purchase of capital assets (4,385) (5,780)
Property held for resale 148,929 37,940
Trust deposits 1,322,192 -

(2,097,090) 670,030

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (986,127) 1,448,640

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,619,165 170,525

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 633,038 $ 1,619,165

Represented by
Cash $ 625,411 $ 289,347
Trust deposits - Province of Manitoba 7,627 1,329,818

$ 633,038 $ 1,619,165

Supplementary Information
Interest paid $ (1,097,000) $ (1,248,549)
Interest received 2,402,841 1,891,361

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

March 31, 2007

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the
reported period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The significant accounting policies
used in these financial statements are as follows:

Loans Receivable Loans are carried at the unpaid principal plus accrued interest,
less allowances for doubtful loans. Loans considered
uncollectible are written-off. Recoveries on loans previously
written-off are taken into income.

Allowance for Doubtful Loans Business Loan Program - The loans are reviewed quarterly to
assess potential impairment or loss of value. Impaired loans
are defined as those which are greater than two payments in
arrears and for which the value of realizable security is less
than the value of the loan outstanding. In these cases, a
"specific" allowance is accrued equal to the value of the
potential security shortfall or impairment. In all other cases,
including loans that are both current and for which there is
excess security value, a "non-specific" allowance equal to 5%
of the outstanding loan balance is recorded.

Fisheries Loan Program - The allowance for doubtful loans on
fisheries loans and interest receivable is calculated based on
the present value of future cash flows for those loans which, if
they maintain their past payment history, will fail to retire their
debt completely within the agreed term. The net present value
("NPV") formula used for calculating the allowance for doubtful
loans is recognized by the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants, however, it does not account for closure of a
fishery or regulated reduction of production. In the event of the
closure of a fishery or regulated reduction of production, the
NPV formula may not adequately provide for doubtful loans.

Revenue Recognition Interest on loans is recorded as income on an accrual basis
except for loans which are considered impaired. When a loan
becomes impaired, recognition of interest ceases when the
carrying amount of the loan (including accrued interest)
exceeds the estimated realizable amount of the underlying
security. The amount of initial impairment and any subsequent
changes are recorded through the provision for doubtful loans
as an adjustment of the specific allowance.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

March 31, 2007

Pension Expense and ObligationThe employees of the Fund are not members of the Civil
Service of the Province of Manitoba but they contribute to, and
are pensionable under, the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.
In accordance with the provisions of the Manitoba Civil Service
Superannuation Act, the Fund will contribute 50% of the
pension payments made to retired employees. The current
pension expense consists of the employer's share of pension
benefits paid to retired employees, as well as the increase in
the unfunded pension liability during the fiscal year. This
liability is determined actuarially every three years with the
balances for the intervening years being determined by a
formula provided by the actuary. The most recent actuarial
valuation as at December 31, 2004 indicated the accrued
liability is in line with the obligation forecast in the report.

In fiscal years prior to 1989, the Fund charged to operations
contributions to the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation
Fund which amounted to 50% of the pension payments made
to retired employees. Beginning in the 1989 fiscal year, the
Fund has recorded a provision to fund current service
obligations.

The total liability as at March 31, 2007 amounts to $1,765,596
(2006 - $1,637,502).

Capital Assets Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization. Amortization based on the estimated useful life
of the asset is calculated on a straight-line basis as follows:

Office furniture and equipment 10 - 30%

Financial Instruments The Fund's financial instruments consist of cash, trust
deposits, accounts receivable, loans receivable, accounts
payable and amounts due to (from) the Province of Manitoba.

The financial risk is the risk to the Fund's revenues that arise
from fluctuations in interest rates and degree of volatility of
these rates. The Fund has established policies to manage its
exposure to fluctuating interest (referred to as interest rate
risk).

The Fund is exposed to credit risk that arises from the
collection of loans receivable and realization of property held
for resale.

All financial instruments are denominated in Canadian dollars.

The Fund does not participate in derivative financial
instrument trading or foreign exchange transactions.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

1. Nature of the Fund

The Communities Economic Development Fund was established in 1971 (Ch. C155) as a
Crown Corporation to encourage the optimum economic development of remote and isolated
communities within the Province of Manitoba. With an act revision passed in July, 1991 the
objective of the Fund was set to encourage economic development in Northern Manitoba, to
act as a lending authority in the fishing industry in the Province of Manitoba and to provide
financial assistance to Aboriginal people in the Province outside the City of Winnipeg. The
Business and Fisheries Loan Programs are administered under the C.E.D.F. Act.

2. Due from the Province of Manitoba

Annually, the Province of Manitoba provides a grant to cover the Fund's anticipated subsidy
requirements for the year. The amount of $2,104,903 (2006 - $2,028,844) represents
additional funds needed to cover the actual requirements for the year including coverage for
the pension liability. The balance is comprised of the following:

2007 2006

Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs
Subsidy (refundable) $ 173,548 $ 263,178
Order in Council pending 100,359 62,764
Pension (unfunded) 1,746,878 1,620,890
Pension (funded) 18,718 16,612
Severance accrual (unfunded) 65,400 65,400

$ 2,104,903 $ 2,028,844
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

3. Loans Receivable
2007 2006

Business Loan Program
- Interest rates applied range from 4.125% to 5.5%

Principal $ 12,495,516 $ 10,736,028
Accrued interest 790,175 665,387

13,285,691 11,401,415
Allowance for doubtful loans (Note 8) 1,739,027 1,441,646

11,546,664 9,959,769

Fisheries Loan Program
- Interest rates applied range from 4.125% to 5.25%

Principal 12,042,494 11,705,019
Accrued interest 940,432 885,110

12,982,926 12,590,129
Allowance for doubtful loans (Note 8) 3,140,168 2,949,198

9,842,758 9,640,931

TEAM Loan Program
Principal 3,755 38,979
Accrued interest 153 11,301

3,908 50,280
Allowance for doubtful loans (Note 8) - 40,443

3,908 9,837

$ 21,393,330 $ 19,610,537

The following schedule provides the gross amount of loans together with the loan allowances:

2007 2006
Gross Loan Total Gross Loan Total

Balances Allowance Balances Allowance

Business Loan Program
Impaired $ 2,340,180 $ 553,631 $ 2,340,182 $ 451,542
Performing 10,945,511 1,185,396 9,061,233 990,104

13,285,691 1,739,027 11,401,415 1,441,646

Fisheries Loan Program
Impaired $ 3,140,168 $ 3,140,168 $ 2,949,198 $ 2,949,198
Performing 9,842,758 - 9,640,931 -

$ 12,982,926 $ 3,140,168 $ 12,590,129 $ 2,949,198

TEAM Loan Program
Impaired $ 3,908 $ - $ 50,280 $ 40,443
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

4. Capital Assets
2007 2006

Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Cost Amortization Value Value

Office furniture and
equipment $ 156,234 $ 141,400 $ 14,834 $ 17,151

5. Loan Commitments
2007 2006

Undisbursed balance of approved loans $ 950,156 $ 3,413,270

6. Commitments

The Fund has committed to leases as follows:

Digital mail equipment $3,093 annually, expires April 2008
Postage scale and software $737 semi-annually, expires February 2009

7. Advance by the Province of Manitoba
2007 2006

Business Loan Program (Note 9) $ 9,906,881 $ 10,328,418
Fisheries Loan Program (Note 9) 11,130,426 10,832,516

$ 21,037,307 $ 21,160,934

The Fund obtains capital for the purpose of carrying out its mandate of providing financial
assistance in the form of loans and guarantees through loans provided by the Department of
Finance. Term loans bear interest at the rates posted by the Department of Finance at time of
issue. The Fund also has the option to draw funds on floating rates set periodically at the
Royal Bank prime rate minus 3/4%. At year end, the Fund's instruments bore rates ranging
from 4.10% to 5.75% with a weighted cost of capital of 4.56%.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

8. Allowance for Doubtful Loans

The change in the allowance is accounted for as follows:
2007 2006

Non-
Specific Specific Total Total

Business Loan Program
Balance, beginning of year$ 990,104 $ 451,542 $ 1,441,646 $ 1,381,348
Provision for the year 325,714 102,089 427,803 369,874

1,315,818 553,631 1,869,449 1,751,222
Loans written-off (130,422) - (130,422) (309,576)

Balance, end of year $ 1,185,396 $ 553,631 $ 1,739,027 $ 1,441,646

Fisheries Loan Program
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,949,198 $ 2,834,581
Provision for the year 200,000 131,500

3,149,198 2,966,081
Loans written-off (9,030) (16,883)

Balance, end of year $ 3,140,168 $ 2,949,198

TEAM Loan Program
Balance, beginning of year $ 40,443 $ 51,996
Loans previously allowed for written-off (40,443) (11,553)

Balance, end of year $ - $ 40,443

The provision for fish loan losses recorded by the Fund exceeds the value derived by the net
present value formula as at March 31, 2007 by $555,574 (2006 - $278,134).

2007 2006

Loan Loss Provision
Per accounts $ 3,140,168 $ 2,949,198
Per net present value calculation (2,584,594) (2,671,064)

$ 555,574 $ 278,134

The commercial fishing industry is cyclical in nature and as a result, no adjustment has been
made to the loan loss provision as at March 31, 2007.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

9. Loan Programs

Business Loan Program

The Communities Economic Development Fund is included under the Province of Manitoba's
Loan Act Authority. Advances from the Province of Manitoba bear interest at rates
established by the Minister of Finance pursuant to "The Loan Act, 2006". The advances are
repayable at any time in whole or in part at the option of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Advances from the Business Loans Program are accounted for as follows:

2007 2006

Advances, beginning of year $ 11,832,828 $ 11,731,301
Loan advances 1,759,488 3,550,337
Loan advance repayments (1,724,659) (3,187,562)
Loan write-offs (130,422) (261,248)

11,737,235 11,832,828

Unfunded allowance, beginning of year 1,504,410 1,951,448
Provision for doubtful loans 427,803 369,874
Write-offs (Order in Council approved) (101,859) (816,912)

1,830,354 1,504,410

Net balance, end of year (Note 7) $ 9,906,881 $ 10,328,418
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

9. Loan Programs (continued)

Fisheries Loan Program

Advances to the Fisheries Loan Program are accounted for as follows:

2007 2006

Advances, beginning of year $ 13,781,710 $ 13,373,656
Loan advances 337,179 3,649,472
Loan advance repayments 169,763 (3,175,600)
Loan write-offs (9,032) (65,818)

14,279,620 13,781,710

Unfunded allowance, beginning of year 2,949,194 2,883,512
Provision for doubtful loans 209,032 131,500
Write-offs (Order in Council approved) (9,032) (65,818)

3,149,194 2,949,194

Net balance, end of year (Note 7) $ 11,130,426 $ 10,832,516

10. Loan Act Authority

Amounts authorized for advances under "The Loan Act, 2006" are as follows:

2007

Per Schedule A of "The Loan Act, 2006" $ 3,800,100
Per Schedule B of "The Loan Act, 2005" 13,199,811

Direct loans 16,999,911
Advances made during the fiscal year 7,000,000

Unused Loan Act capital available $ 9,999,911

11. Economic Dependence

The ongoing operations of the Communities Economic Development Fund depends on
obtaining adequate financing and funding. The Fund is dependent upon the Province of
Manitoba for funding of operations.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and deposits, accounts receivable, amounts due from the
Province of Manitoba and accounts payable are a reasonable estimate of the fair value
because of the short maturity of those instruments. The advances by the Province of
Manitoba has a market rate of return (Note 7) and is a reasonable estimate of the fair value.

The carrying value of loans receivable approximate their fair value. In the absence of readily
ascertainable market values, management has estimated that fair value would not differ
materially from carrying value. Factors considered in this determination include underlying
collateral, market conditions, financial data and projections of the borrowers. Because of the
inherent uncertainty of valuation, the estimate of fair value may differ significantly from the
values that would have been used had a ready market for the assets existed.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Schedule of Operating Expenditures

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006

Amortization of capital assets $ 6,703 $ 10,476
Collection costs 67,761 149,416
Communications 48,818 49,323
Credit reports 2,255 2,809
Directors' fees and expenses 66,445 74,485
Government vehicles 43,956 44,883
Insurance 1,432 2,826
Legal costs 13,816 12,396
Office supplies and expenses 18,425 21,095
Pension 172,772 175,144
Professional fees 27,235 25,600
Rent and utilities 94,598 86,713
Salaries and benefits 974,321 1,001,298
Sundry 18,536 29,933
TEAM 23,722 31,590
Travel 55,882 65,700

$ 1,636,677 $ 1,783,687
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Agriculture, Food 
and Rural Initiatives 
The Co-operative Loans and Loans 
Guarantee Board 
9056-401 York Avenue 
Winnipeg MB R3C OP8 
Phone: (204) 945-8650 
Fax: (204) 945-61 34 

June 14,2007 

The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 

Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions, and other financial information in the 
Annual Report for the year ended March 31,2007, are the responsibility of management and have been 
approved by the Board. This Schedule was prepared by management in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in Note 2 to the Schedule. Any financial information contained elsewhere in the Annual 
Report conforms to the Schedule of Loan Guarantees. 

As management is responsible for the integrity of the Schedule, management has established systems of 
internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded 
from loss. 

The Auditor General advises that he has performed an independent examination of the Schedule of Loan 
Guarantee Transactions of the Board in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Secretary of the Board 
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AUDITOR GENERAL 
W B A  

AUDITORS' REPORT 
On the Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions 

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba 
To the Members of The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 

We have audited the schedule of loan guarantee transactions of The Co-operative Loans and Loans 
Guarantee Board as at March 3 1,2007. This financial information is the responsibility of the Board's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this schedule based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
information is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial information. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial information. 

In our opinion, this schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the loan guarantee transactions of the 
Board as at March 3 1,2007 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Office of the Auditor General 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
June 15,2007 

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C OC4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169 
ww!JU.q&a 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 

Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions 
for the year ended March 31,2007 

Amounts Amounts 
Outstanding at Additions Cancellations Outstanding at 
March 31,2006 $ $ March 31,2007 

$ $ 

Loan Guarantees: 
(Note 3) 

S M W Workers 
CO-OP Ltd. 77,000 

Russell Fitness 
Centre Co-op Inc. 8,000 8,000 

Chairperson 

Secretary 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
   
  
Notes to the Schedule 
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
   
  
1.   Nature of Operations 
  

The Co-operative Associations Loans and Loans Guarantee Act established the Board with the primary 
objective of ensuring that cooperative organizations have access to basic financial services.  The Board 
is empowered to make loans or guarantee loans to cooperative organizations in Manitoba.  Manitoba 
Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives administers the activities of the Board.  The Department pays all 
administrative and general operating costs of the Board.  The Board may charge a fee for its loans and 
loan guarantees.  The Department records all revenue received. 

  
2.  Accounting Policies 
  

a) Loan guarantees are stated at the amount guaranteed. 
b) The Government of the Province of Manitoba provides the services of support staff, other 

administrative support services, office space and utilities.  The cost of the support staff services 
have been estimated at $8,210 (2006 $1,853). 

c) In the event of a default on a loan guarantee, the Province of Manitoba is responsible for the payout 
of the guaranteed amount. 

  
3.   Loan Guarantees 
  

a) S M W Workers Co-op Ltd. 
 On March 15, 1999, the Board approved an offer of a ten-year loan guarantee for S M W 

Workers Co-op Ltd. of $120,000.  The loan guarantee was to reduce by $12,000 per year, 
beginning on July 31, 2000.  The Assiniboine Credit Union Limited and the S M W Workers Co-
op Ltd. accepted the loan guarantee, in July 1999. 

    
 On June 25, 2002, the Board approved a new $110,000 loan guarantee to replace the 

outstanding $96,000 loan guarantee.  The Minister of Industry, Trade and Mines approved the 
new loan guarantee on June 27, 2002.  The Assiniboine Credit Union Limited and the S M W 
Workers Co-op Ltd. accepted the loan guarantee, on January 7, 2003.  The loan guarantee 
shall reduce by $11,000 per year beginning February 4, 2004. 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
   
  
Notes to the Schedule 
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
   
  
3.  Loan Guarantees (Continued) 
  

 
b) Russell Fitness Centre Co-op Inc. 

On October 17, 2002, the Board approved a $20,000 loan guarantee.  The Vanguard Credit 
Union Limited accepted the loan guarantee and signed an agreement with Russell Fitness 
Centre Co-op Inc. on February 11, 2003.  The loan guarantee shall reduce by $4,000 per year 
beginning on August 8, 2003.  The Vanguard Credit Union Limited confirmed that the loan was 
repaid in full on April 1, 2006 and the loans guarantee was cancelled on that date.  

 
4.  Loan Act Authority 
  

The Government of the Province of Manitoba has authorized the following amounts to be expended for 
funding loans and loan guarantees: 
  

    Outstanding Authority Expenditure Authority 
  
The Loan Act, 2006 (Schedule B) 

$3,500,000 Guarantees 
Less:  Amounts committed by the Board 66,000 
  
  $3,434,000 
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Agriculture, Food 
and Rural Initiatives 
The Cooperative Promotion Board 
1129 Queens Avenue 
Brandon MB R7A 1 L9 
Phone: (204) 726-641 0 
Fax: (204) 726-6260 

June 15,2007 

The Cooperative Promotion Board 

Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying financial statements and other financial information in the Annual Report for 
the year ended March 31,2007 are the responsibility of management and have been approved by 
the Board. The financial statements were prepared by management in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in Note 2 to the financial statements. Any financial information 
contained elsewhere in the annual Report conforms to these financial statements. 

As management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements, management has 
established systems of internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded from loss. 

The Office of the Auditor General advises that he has performed an independent examination of 
the financial statements of the Board in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. 

Mona Cornock 
Secretary of the Board 
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The Cooperative Promotioll B o d  

Balance Sheet 
as at March 31,2007 

ASSETS 

General Account 
Current Assets 

Cash (Note 3) 
Account Receivable (Note 4) 
Accrued lnterest Receivable 
Total Current Assets 

Commercial Fishing Account 
Current Assets 

Cash (Note 3) 
Accrued lnterest Receivable 
Total Current Assets 

Investments (Note 5) 
Total Commercial Fishing Account 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 
Accounts Payable - General Account 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Total Liabilities and Equity 

APPROVED BY THE BOARD: 

Equity 
Contributed Capital - General Account 
Retained Earnings - General Account 
Retained Earnings - Commercial Fishing Account (Note 6) 

z5.d )w Chairperson 

Secretary 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board

General Account
Statement of Revenue and Expenditure and Retained Earnings
for the year ended March 31, 2007

2007 2006
Revenue

   Interest 14,871$       10,518$       
   Administrative expenses paid for
   by the Province of Manitoba (Note 2c) 16,000         7,526           

   Total Revenue 30,871         18,044         

Expenditure

   Grants, (Schedule 1) 22,570         16,372         

   General and administrative
   
         Annual Report (Note 2c) 740             526              
         Board members' remuneration 1,113          435              
         Board members' meals and travel 1,379          28                
         Membership Fee 734             713              

 Miscellaneous                                                         174                 131              
         Professional Fees 2,299          1,552           

   Administrative expenses (Note 2c) 16,000         7,000           

22,439         10,385         

   Total Expenditure 45,009         26,757         

Excess of Expenditure over Revenue (14,138)       (8,713)          

Retained Earnings, beginning of year 226,985       235,698       

Retained Earnings, end of year 212,847$     226,985$      
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The Cooperative Promotion Board   
   
      
Commercial Fishing Account   

Statement of Revenue and Expenditure and Retained 
Earnings  
for the year ended March 31, 2007   
      
   
 2007 2006
Revenue   
   

   Interest 

  

$2,808      $1,995 

   Dividend 
 

132  
  

74 
   

   Total Revenue 
 

2,940  
  

2,069 
   
   

Total Expenditure 
            -               -  

   

Excess of Revenue over Expenditure 
 

2,940  
  

2,069 
  

Retained Earnings, beginning of year 
 

68,512  
  

66,443 
     

Retained Earnings, end of year 
  

$71,452  
 

$68,512 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board     
          
      
Notes to the Financial Statements     
for the year ended March 31, 2007     
      
          
1.  Nature and Objectives of the Board      
          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Cooperative Promotion Board operates under the terms of The Cooperative Promotion 
Trust Act, which came into force on December 20, 1988.  The Board is a continuation of the 
Board established under The Wheat Board Money Trust Act.  The Wheat Board Money 
Trust Act was repealed when the Cooperative Promotion Trust Act came into force.  
Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives administers the activities of the Board.   

 General Account        
          
 
 
 
 

The General Account funds controlled by the Board consist of surplus funds of the original 
Canadian Wheat Board apportioned to Manitoba by the Government of Canada (recorded 
as Contributed Capital), assets vested in the Board when the Cooperative Promotion Trust 
Act came into force and assets acquired by the Board. 

          
 
 
 
 
 

The objectives of the Board with regard to the General Account are to assist in the 
development of cooperative organizations, to promote the general welfare of cooperative 
organizations and rural residents in Manitoba and to make recommendations to the Minister 
responsible with respect to cooperative organizations and related legislation. 

          
 Commercial Fishing Account      
          
 
 
 
 
 

The Commercial Fishing Account consists of funds donated by Northern Cooperative 
Services Ltd.  As a condition of the donation, these funds are to be used exclusively for the 
promotion and development of commercial fishing in Manitoba.  As of March 31, 2007, no 
activity has taken place. 

          

2. Accounting Policies       
          
 
 

a)   These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally  
accepted accounting principles. 

          
 
 

b)   Discounts on investments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
investments. 

          
 
 
 
 

c)   The Government of the Province of Manitoba provides the services of support staff, 
other administrative support services, office space and utilities.  The cost of these services 
have been estimated at $16,000 (2006 $7,526).  In 2006 the Annual Report costs were 
recovered from the Province of Manitoba. 
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3. Cash       
          
 General Account        
          
 
 
 

The cash balance for the General Account includes $336,347 (2006 - $352,050) held in a 
high yield savings account at Buffalo Credit Union at a fixed rate of 4.25% effective October 
2, 2006.  Interest is paid semi-annually on June 30 and December 31. 

          
 Commercial Fishing Account      
          
 
 
 

The cash balance for the Commercial Fishing Account is held in a high yield savings 
account at Buffalo Credit Union at a fixed rate of 3.90% effective October 1, 2006. Interest is 
paid semi-annually on June 30 and December 31. 

          
          
4. Accounts Receivable, General Account  2007  2006
          
 La Caisse Populaire de Saint-Boniface Limitée         $564  $564
 This surplus share account was closed on February 25,    
 2004 and the funds are to be returned to the board at a    
 rate of 10% per year until the balance is nil.       
          
          
          
5. Investments, Commercial Fishing Account  2007  2006
          
 Buffalo Credit Union - Share at Cost   $507   $375 
          
          
          
6. Retained Earnings, Commercial Fishing Account    
          
 
 
 
 
 

During 1993 and 1994, Northern Cooperative Services Ltd. donated $41,724 to the Board 
subject to the condition that these funds are to be used exclusively for the promotion and 
development of commercial fishing in Manitoba.  These funds have earned interest and the 
balance available at March 31, 2007 is $71,452 (2006 - $68,512) 

          

          
7. Statement of Cash Flows       
          
 
 

A statement of cash flows has not been presented in these financial statements, as no 
additional information would be provided by its inclusion. 

          
          
8. Comparative Figures       
          
 
 

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's 
financial statement presentation. 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board                                                                           Schedule 1

                                                                                                      Schedule of Grants
                                                                                                       for the year ended March 31, 2007

                                                                                                       2007             2006

Canadian Community Investment Network Coop 2,500$             
Co-operative Housing Federation of Canada (Manitoba Office) 600 $     600
Dr. J.G. Carlberg     2,500
EarthShare Agricultural Cooperative Ltd 3,468
Eastern Manitoba Artists Co-op In      2,000
Manitoba Cooperative Association Inc                                                 16,000              6,300    
MB4Youth Advisory Counc                                                                                           1,872
Ryan Gibson                                                                                                                 3,100

22,570$        16,372$

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17 

Page 229



The Council on Post-Secondary Education – Annual Report 2006 - 2007  Page 35
  

 
 
 
 

 
THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION 

 
 

Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 

 
 
The management of the Council on Post-Secondary Education is responsible for the 
financial reporting process that produces the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
 
The Council is responsible for overseeing management’s performance of its financial 
reporting responsibilities. The statements are examined by the Auditor General of 
Manitoba, whose opinion is included herein. 
 
In order to fulfill this responsibility, management maintains systems of internal control 
over the financial reporting process designed to provide assurance that relevant and 
reliable financial information is produced. 
 
 
 
 
“Original signed by      “Original signed by 
Margaret McDonald”      Sid Rogers” 
_____________________      ___________________     
Margaret McDonald, CGA      Sid Rogers   
Chief Financial Officer      Secretary to the Council 
 
 
 
 
July 13, 2007 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
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Auditors’ Report 
 
 

 
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba, and 
To The Council on Post-Secondary Education 
 
We have audited the statement of financial position of The Council on Post-Secondary 
Education as at March 31, 2007 and the statements of revenues and expenditures and 
changes in net assets for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Council’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Council on Post-Secondary Education as at March 31, 2007 and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
 
“Original signed by 
Office of the Auditor General” 
___________________________ 
 
Winnipeg, Manitoba       
July 13, 2007 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
   
Statement of Financial Position     
For the year ended March 31, 2007     
     
     
     
  2007  2006 

ASSETS     
     

Current Assets:     
     Cash    $     916,150    $     407,306
     Accounts receivable  339,346    704,899
   1,255,496  1,112,205 
     
Long-term receivable- 
     Province of Manitoba (Note 3) 

 
1,174,692 

 
1,135,486 

     
Capital Assets-net of accumulated amortization (Note 4)  34,838  33,842 
     
Total Assets   $  2,465,026   $  2,281,533 

     
LIABILITIES     

     
Current Liabilities:     
     Accounts payable & accrued liabilities   $     92,213   $       101,246
     Grants payable  927,826   676,866
  1,020,039  778,112 
     
Long-term liabilities:     
     Provision for employee severance benefits (Note 5)  107,943    105,106
     Provision for employer's share of employees' 
          pension benefits (Note 6) 

  
1,070,551 

 
 1,031,345

   1,178,494  1,136,451
     
Total liabilities  2,198,533  1,914,563 
     
Net Assets     
     Investment in Capital Assets  34,838  33,842
     Unrestricted Net Assets  231,655  333,128
  266,493  366,970
     
   $  2,465,026   $  2,281,533 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST- SECONDARY EDUCATION 
      
Statement of Revenues and Expenses   
For the year ended March 31, 2007      
     
      
      
  

 
Operating 

College 
Expansion 
Initiative 

 
2007 
Total 

 
 

 
2006 
Total 

Revenues:      
     Province of Manitoba Grants:      
          Department of Advanced Education
            and Literacy 
          Other 

 $ 417,018,422
 990,514

$30,146,194
-

$  447,164,616
990,514

$ 426,437,600
929,898

     Interest income  22,083  - 22,083 20,889
     

     Total Revenues  418,031,019 30,146,194  448,177,213 427,388,387
      
Expenses:      
     Operating grants  369,972,765  -  369,972,765 347,330,235
     Support programs 2,336,179  - 2,336,179 2,041,753
     College Expansion Initiative grants  - 29,685,933 29,685,933 27,335,286
     Post Secondary Strategic grants 1,804,250  - 1,804,250 1,795,000
     Equipment & Renovations grants  6,785,992  - 6,785,992 17,123,000
     Major Capital grants  12,471,850  - 12,471,850  7,733,129
     Access grants 7,167,385  - 7,167,385 6,460,000
     Tuition Rebate grants 13,239,288  - 13,239,288 13,163,981
     Inter-Provincial Training Agreement 3,553,979  - 3,553,979 3,184,354
     Administrative and other, Schedule 1 1,013,532 246,537  1,260,069 1,149,107
      
     Total Expenses 418,345,220 29,932,470  448,277,690 427,315,845
 
Excess (deficiency) of Revenues over  
Expenses 

 $     (314,201) $     213,724 
 

 $      (100,477) $         72,542 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION 
                        
Statement of Changes in Net Assets - Post-Secondary Grants Fund    
For the year ended March 31, 2007      
     
      
      

Investment 
in Capital 

Assets 

 
Unrestricted 
Net Assets 

 
2007 
Total 

  
2006 
Total 

 

     
Balance, Beginning of Year  33,842 333,128  366,970 294,428
Excess (deficiency) of Revenues over Expenses -   (100,477)   (100,477) 72,542 
   
Purchase of Capital Assets 18,197 (18,197) -  -
Amortization  (17,201)  17,201  -  -
 
Balance, End of Year  $34,838

 
$231,655 $266,493 $366,970
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Schedule 1 
 
 
THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION 
                             
Schedule of Administrative and Other Expenses     
For the year ended March 31, 2007      
     
      
      
  

 
Operating 

College 
Expansion 
Initiative 

 
2007 
Total 

 
 

 
2006 
Total 

Amortization $      15,623 $      1,578 $      17,201 $      22,008
Automobile and traveling 39,750 3,241 42,991 36,040
Computer operating and lease costs 28,980 8,100 37,080 37,265
Course and membership fees 14,711 1,780 16,491 2,857
Furniture and equipment 4,163 276  4,439 3,649
Meetings-Council 7,001  - 7,001  6,447
Miscellaneous grants 4,750  -  4,750 35,291
Office rental 47,054 10,362  57,416 54,481
Postage and telephone 14,187 864 15,051 15,314
Printing and stationery supplies 20,691 230 20,921 16,122
Professional fees 22,662  - 22,662 26,383
Remuneration for Council members 41,023  - 41,023 40,709
Repairs & maintenance 25  - 25   152
Salaries and employee benefits 720,818 217,711 938,529 787,539
Subscriptions and books 3,222 - 3,222 3,827

28,872 2,395 31,267  61,023Sundry 
  

Total administrative & other expenses  $ 1,013,532 $    246,537  $  1,260,069 $  1,149,107
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION   
______________________________________________ 

 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended March 31, 2007 
_______________________________________________ 
 
    
    2007   2006  
 
 
Cash from Operating Activities: 
 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenses  $ (100,477)  $  72,542  
 Amortization  17,201  22,008 
 
     (83,276)   94,550 
 
Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items: 
 (Increase) Decrease in Accounts receivable  365,553  (169,181) 
 Increase (Decrease) in Accounts payable and 
  accrued liabilities    (9,033)  8,382 
 Increase in Grants payable  250,960  378,002 
 
     524,204   311,753 
 
 
Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities: 
 Increase in Long-term receivable – Province of Manitoba  (39,206)  12,573 
 Increase (Decrease) in Provision for employee 
  severance benefits   2,837  (18,042) 
 Increase in Provision for employer’s share of employees’ 
  pension benefits  39,206  (12,573) 
 
    2,837  (18,042) 
 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
 Purchase of Capital Assets  (18,197)  (5,399) 
 
Increase (Decrease) in Cash for the Year   508,844    288,312 
 
 Cash, beginning of year  407,306  118,994 
 

Cash, end of year      $   916,150 $        407,306 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
_____________________________________________ 
 
1. Nature of Operations 
 

The Council on Post-Secondary Education was established by an Act of the Legislature passed in 1997 
and is composed of 11 members appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council. 
 

 The Universities Grants Commission Act was repealed effective April 28, 1997 by the Council on Post-
Secondary Education Act. 
 

 The Council on Post-Secondary Education Act provided that the University Grants Fund be continued 
as the Post-Secondary Grants Fund.  All assets and liabilities of the Universities Grants Commission 
were transferred to the Council on Post-Secondary Education. 
 

 Primarily, the Council on Post-Secondary Education provides funding to Manitoba’s universities and 
community colleges for approved programs and capital projects from funds received from the Province 
of Manitoba. 
 
The College Expansion Initiative provides funding to increase enrollment in diploma and certificate 
programs at Manitoba’s community colleges. For financial reporting purposes, Revenue and Expenses 
for the Initiative have been segregated. 
 

2.   Significant Accounting Policies 
 

A. Basis of Accounting 
 
 The Council on Post-Secondary Education’s annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
B. Grant Payments 
 

Operating, equipment and renovations, tuition rebate, Access, and strategic initiatives grants reflect 
payments to Manitoba universities and community colleges for annual operations. These grants are 
funded on the basis of scheduled payments to meet the operating requirements of the universities 
and community colleges. Operating grants are also provided to private religious colleges and to the 
Winnipeg Technical College.  
 
Major capital grants based on shared cost agreements are funded on a reimbursement basis. The 
university must first incur eligible costs as defined in the terms of the agreement, which the Council 
then reimburses. 
 
Major capital grants to universities that are discretionary grants are funded when the university has 
met the eligibility criteria and fulfilled the conditions set out by the Council. 
 

C. Revenue Recognition 
 
 Revenue is recognized as funds are drawn from Province of Manitoba appropriations. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION   
_____________________________________________ 
 
Notes to Financial Statements  
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
_____________________________________________ 
 

D. Vacation  and Severance Benefits 
 

Employees of the Council are entitled to vacation and severance benefits in accordance with the 
terms of the collective agreement. The liability for vacation and severance benefits is recorded 
based on the Council’s best estimates. 
 

E. Employer’s Share of Employees’ Pension Benefits 
 

Employees of the Council are pensionable under the Civil Service Superannuation Act. The 
Council accrues a provision for the liability for the employer’s share of employee pension benefits, 
including future cost of living adjustments, based on an actuarial report. 
 

F. Capital Assets 
 

Capital Assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the 
assets’ estimated useful life, in accordance with the Province of Manitoba guidelines, as follows: 

 
 Furniture  10 years 
 Leasehold Improvements  10 years 
 Computer Software    4 years 
 Machinery and Equipment 10 years 
 Computer Equipment    4 years 
 
G. Measurement Uncertainty 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the 
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 

H. Financial Instruments 
 

The Council on Post-Secondary Education’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and grants payable. Unless otherwise noted, it is 
management’s opinion that the Council is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit 
risks arising from these instruments. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates 
their carrying values. 
 

3. Long-term Receivable – Province of Manitoba 
 

A portion of the long-term receivable from the Province of Manitoba is for severance benefits 
accumulated by COPSE employees to March 31, 1998. The opening severance pay liability balance as 
at April 1, 1998 of $104,141 was completely offset by a long-term receivable from the Province of 
Manitoba. There are no terms of repayment for this receivable, and the amount will remain fixed at 
$104,141. 
 
The remaining portion of the long-term receivable from the Province of Manitoba represents the 
employer’s share of employees’ pension benefits as at March 31, 2007 of $1,070,551 (2006 - 
$1,031,345). The Province of Manitoba will pay the employer’s share of employees’ pension benefits 
as they become due. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
_____________________________________________ 

 
4. Capital Assets, net of Accumulated Amortization 
 

     2007    2006 
        Net Book      Net Book 

   Cost  Acc. Amort  Value  Value 
 
Furniture $ 59,089 $ 50,307 $ 8,782 $ 13,392 
Leasehold Improvements  25,019  11,647  13,372   5,198 
Computer Software  5,590  699  4,891    - 
Machinery and Equipment  10,685  8,369  2,316  3,840 
Computer Equipment  24,196  18,719  5,477  11,412 
 
  $ 124,579 $ 89,741 $ 34,838 $ 33,842  

 
 
5. Provision for Employee Severance Benefits 

 
               2007             2006  
 
Balance at beginning of year $ 105,106 $ 123,148 
Experience gain      (167)  (28,548) 

  Benefits accrued  4,527  3,884 
  Interest accrued on benefits  6,713  6,622 
  Benefits Paid  (8,236)  - 
   
  Balance at end of year $ 107,943 $ 105,106 

 
An actuarial valuation of the severance obligations as at March 31, 2005 was conducted by Ellement & 
Ellement Ltd., Consulting Actuaries. The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 7% (2000 – 
6.75%), 2.5% inflation (2000 – 2.75%), salary rate increases of 3.25% (2000 – 3.5%). The accrued 
benefit cost method with salary projection was used and the liabilities have been extrapolated to March 
31, 2007 using a formula provided by the actuary. 
 

6. Provision for Employer’s Share of Employees’ Pension Benefits 
 

               2007             2006  
 
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,031,345 $ 1,043,918 
Experience gain      -  (88,898) 

  Benefits accrued  49,475  56,701 
  Interest accrued on benefits  74,095  68,080 
  Benefits paid  (84,364)  (48,456) 
 
  Balance at end of year $ 1,070,551 $ 1,031,345 

 
An actuarial valuation of the pension obligations as at December 31, 2004 was conducted by Ellement 
& Ellement Ltd., Consulting Actuaries. The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 7% (2001 
– 7.25%), 2.5% inflation (2001 – 2.75%), salary rate increases of 3.25% (2001 – 3.5%) and post 
retirement indexing at 2/3 of the inflation rate. The accrued benefit cost method with salary projection 
was used and the liabilities have been extrapolated to March 31, 2007 using a formula provided by the 
actuary. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements  
for the year ended March 31, 2007 
_____________________________________________ 
 

 
7. Commitments 
 

The Council on Post-Secondary Education has approved funding as listed below: 
 
       Outstanding 
  Approved  Expended  Commitments 
  
Capital: 
University of Manitoba 
 Chiller System – Fort Garry Campus   19,000,000    18,806,000  194,000 
 Chiller System – Bannatyne Campus   955,000  946,678  8,322 
 
Total $ 19,955,000 $ 19,752,678 $ 202,322 
 
 
Future funding commitments were also approved for the following new programs: 
 
System Restructuring Envelope      218,700 
Strategic Program Envelope        993,400 
 
Total     $ 1,212,100 
 

 
8. Related Party Transactions 
 

In addition to those related transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Council 
on Post-Secondary Education is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba 
created departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Council on Post-Secondary Education 
enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business.  These transactions are 
recorded at the exchange amount. 

 
9. Economic Dependence 

 
The Council is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba for its funding. 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 
Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 
The management of the Crown Corporations Council is responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements and accompanying notes.  The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, 
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and approved by the Board of 
Directors.  The statements have been examined by Ernst & Young, LLP, independent 
external auditors, whose opinion is included herein. 
 
The preparation of the financial information contained in the annual report necessarily 
involved the use of certain estimates and judgments which have been reached based on 
careful assessment of data available through the Council’s information systems. 
Preparation of financial information is an integral part of management’s broader 
responsibilities for the ongoing operations of the Council.  Management maintains an 
appropriate system of internal accounting controls to ensure that transactions are accurately 
recorded on a timely basis, are properly approved and result in reliable financial statements. 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with officers of the 
Council and the Council’s auditors.  The auditors have free access to this Committee, to 
discuss the results of their audit work and their observations on the internal financial 
controls and the quality of financial reporting. 
 
 
ORIGINAL SIGNED BY ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
 
President and Chief Executive Officer Manager, Operation Analysis 

12 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

AUDITORS’  REPORT 

 

 
 
 

To the Members of 
Crown Corporations Council 
 
We have audited the balance sheet of Crown Corporations Council as at December 31, 
2006 and the statement of income and reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets for 
the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Council's 
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Council as at December 31, 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
 
 
 ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
Winnipeg, Canada, 
March 2, 2007. Chartered Accountants 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

BALANCE SHEET 
 December 31 
 2006 2005 
ASSETS (thousands of dollars) 
 
Current: 
 
Cash $ 439 $ 300 
Accounts receivable  6  6
 
  445  306 
 
Capital assets (note 4)  6  20 
 
     
 $ 451 $ 326 
 
LIABILITIES AND RESERVE REFLECTING 
NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Current: 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 91 $ 79 
Levies received in advance  109  52 
Due to Manitoba Crown corporations (note 3)  96  53 
 
  296  184 
 
Retirement allowances and other benefits payable 
(notes 2(d) and 5)  149  122 
 
  445  306 
 
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets  6  20 
 
     
 $ 451 $ 326 
 
Approved by the Board 
 
 
 ORIGINAL SIGNED BY ORIGINAL SIGNED BY 
 Chairman Director 
 

(see accompanying notes) 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RESERVE 
REFLECTING NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
 
 Year Ended December 31 
 2006 2005 
 (thousands of dollars) 
 
Income 
 
 Recoveries from corporations through levies $ 694 $ 673 
 Interest  12  6 
   706  679 
 
 
Expenses 
 Salaries and benefits (notes 2(d) and 5)  501  485 
 Board remuneration and expenses  78  86 
 Rent  76  74 
 Professional fees  17  7 
 Depreciation  14  15 
 Automobile expense  8  8 
 Industry conferences  7  1 
 Telephone, courier and internet  7  7 
 Office supplies and printing  6  7 
 Equipment rental and maintenance  3  1 
 Insurance and miscellaneous  1  1 
 Travel  1  1 
 Professional development  1  1 
   720  694 
 
 
Excess of expenses over income $ (14) $ (15) 
 
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets, 
 beginning of year  20  35 
 
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets,     
 end of year $ 6 $ 20 
 

(see accompanying notes) 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2006 
 
1. Nature of organization 
 
The Crown Corporations Council (the “Council”) is a body corporate established on June 5, 
1989 under the Crown Corporations Public Review and Accountability Act. 
 
The mandate of the Council is to facilitate clear mandates, development of performance 
measures and consistent practices and to review corporate plans of Crown corporations 
under its purview. 

 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles.  Outlined below are those principles considered particularly 
significant for the Council. 

 
a) Recoveries of expenses from Crown corporations 
 
 Operating expenses are recovered from the Crown corporations through the 

assessment of levies allocated on a pro rata basis determined by the revenues of each 
Crown corporation.  The levies are recognized in these financial statements at the time 
the related costs are incurred.  In addition, certain direct costs incurred on behalf of 
particular corporations are recovered directly from the respective Crown corporations. 

 
b) Reserve reflecting the net investment in capital assets 
 

The purchase of capital assets is funded through operating expense levies assessed to 
Crown corporations.  The reserve reflects levies assessed to the Crown corporations 
with respect to the Council’s capital assets. 

 
c) Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis 
over five years on the office furniture and equipment and over three years on the 
computer equipment. 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
d) Retirement allowances and other employee future benefits 
 

The Council provides retirement allowance and pension benefits to its employees.   
 
Retirement allowances are provided to certain qualifying employees.  The benefits are 
provided under a final pay plan.  The costs of benefits earned by employees are 
charged to expenses as services are rendered.  The costs are actuarially determined 
using the projected benefit method and reflect management’s best estimates of the 
length of service, salary increases and ages at which employees will retire.  In addition, 
adjustments arising from plan amendment, changes in assumptions, and the actuarial 
present value of the accrued entitlement as at January 1, 2000 are being amortized to 
expenses on a straight line basis over the expected average remaining service life of the 
employee group. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in income immediately. 

 
Employees of the Council are provided pension benefits by the Civil Service 
Superannuation Fund (“the Fund”).  Under paragraph 6 of the Civil Service 
Superannuation Act, the Council is described as a “matching employer” and its 
contribution toward the pension benefits is limited to matching the employees’ 
contributions to the Fund.  The cost for the year was $23,000 (2005 - $22,000). 
 
In addition, one employee is entitled to enhanced pension benefits.  The plan is based 
on final pay and is indexed.  The cost of the benefits earned by the employee is 
charged to expenses as services are rendered.  The cost is actuarially determined using 
the projected benefit method and reflects management’s best estimate of salary 
increases and the age at which the employee will retire.   

 
e) Financial instruments  
 

Financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, retirement allowances and other benefits payable, and due to Manitoba 
Crown corporations.  It is management’s opinion that the Council is not exposed to 
significant interest, currency, or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.  
The book value of the Council’s financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair 
value. 

 
f) Use of estimates  
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect amounts reported in the financial statements.  Actual amounts could differ from 
those estimates. 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
3. Due to Manitoba Crown corporations 
 
These amounts are non-interest bearing and represent a retroactive adjustment to levies 
based on Council’s actual expenses.   

 
4. Capital assets 
 
These are comprised entirely of office furniture and equipment and computer equipment. 
 
 December 31 
 2006 2005 
 (in thousands of dollars) 
 

Cost 
 Office furniture and equipment $ 61 $ 61 
 Computer equipment  46  46 
  $ 107 $ 107 
 
Accumulated depreciation 
 Office furniture and equipment $ 60 $ 58 
 Computer equipment  41  29 
  $ 101 $ 87 
 
Net book value $ 6 $ 20 
 

 
 
5. Retirement allowances and enhanced pension benefits 
 
The Council measures its accrued benefit obligation for each of the retirement allowance and 
enhanced pension benefits as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial 
valuation report was at December 31, 2004 and the next required valuation is as of 
December 31, 2007. 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
(a) Information about the Council’s retirement allowance benefit plan is as follows: 
 
 2006 2005 
 $ $ 
 
Accrued benefit obligation 
 Balance, beginning of year 91 76 
 Current service cost 4 4 
 Interest cost 5 5 
 Experience loss on triennial adjustment 0 6 
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 100 91 
Unamortized transitional amount, December 31 (15) (20) 
Accrued retirement allowance, December 31 85 71 
 
The Council’s retirement allowance expense consists of the following: 
 2006 2005 
 $ $ 
 
Current service costs 4 4 
Interest cost 5 5 
Experience loss on triennial adjustment 0 6 
Amortization of transitional amount 5 6 
Total retirement allowance expense 14 21 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Council’s retirement 
allowance obligation are as follows: 
 2006 2005 
 % % 
 
Benefit costs for the year ended December 31 
 Discount rate 6.50 6.50 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
(b) Information about the Council’s enhanced pension benefit plan is as follows: 
 
 2006 2005 
 $ $ 
 
Accrued benefit obligation and accrued pension liability 
 Balance, beginning of year 51 53 
 Current service cost 9 7 
 Interest cost 4 3 
 Experience gain on triennial adjustment 0 (12) 
Accrued benefit obligation and accrued pension liability, December 31 64 51 
 
The Council’s enhanced pension expense (income) consists of the following: 
 
 2006 2005 
 $ $ 
 
Current service costs 9 7 
Interest cost 4 3 
Experience gain on triennial adjustment 0 (12) 
Employee contributions (2) (3) 
Total enhanced pension expense (income) 11 (5) 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Council’s pension obligation 
are as follows: 
 
 2006 2005 
 % % 
 
Benefit costs for the year ended December 31 
 Discount rate 6.50 6.50 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 
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2 0 0 6  A N N UA L  R E P O RT  
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
6. Lease commitments 
 
The Council is committed under a premises lease expiring on April 30, 2010 to annual basic 
rental payments of $35,379 and annual common area and operating costs of approximately 
$34,200.   
 
The lease payments excluding annual common area and operating costs are as follows: 
 
 Year Base Rent 
 2007 $35,379 
 2008 $35,379 
 2009 $35,379 

 2010 $11,793 
 
  $117,930 
 

7. Statement of cash flows 
 

A statement of cash flows has not been presented in these financial statements as no 
additional useful information would be provided by its inclusion. 
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AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Directors of First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority 

We have audited the statement of financial position of First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family
Services Authority as at March 31, 2007 and the statements of net assets, revenue and expenses, and cash flows for
the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Authority's management.  Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Authority as at March 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

chartered accountants LLP

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 4, 2007  

100-123 Bannatyne Ave., Winnipeg, MB  R3B 0R3
Telephone: (204) 943-4584  Fax: (204) 957-5195

Toll Free: 1-866-EXG-0303
E-mail: info@exg.ca  Website: www.exg.ca
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2007

2007 2006

ASSETS
CURRENT        

Cash $ 1,157,356 $ 863,213
Accounts receivable 1,086,883 526,978
Prepaid expenses 15,347 9,488

2,259,586 1,399,679

EQUIPMENT (Note 2, 3) 48,722 37,757

$ 2,308,308 $ 1,437,436

LIABILITIES
CURRENT        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,152,526 $ 468,176

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted 35,247 42,865
Internally restricted (Note 4) 470,565 285,248
Externally restricted (Note 5) 601,248 603,390
Invested in equipment 48,722 37,757

1,155,782 969,260

$ 2,308,308 $ 1,437,436

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES AUTHORITY

Statement of Net Assets

Year Ended March 31, 2007

 Unrestricted
Internally
Restricted

Externally
Restricted

Invested in
Equipment 2007 2006

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 42,865 $ 285,248 $ 603,390 $ 37,757 $ 969,260 $ 938,028

Excess of revenue over expenses 208,610 - - (22,088) 186,522 31,232

Interfund transfers (183,175) 185,317 (2,142) - - -

Purchase of assets (33,053) - - 33,053 - -

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 35,247 $ 470,565 $ 601,248 $ 48,722 $ 1,155,782 $ 969,260
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Statement of Revenue and Expenses

Year Ended March 31, 2007

2007 2006

REVENUE          
Province of Manitoba - Authority Funding $ 9,612,433 $ 6,562,535
Interest 50,010 18,385

9,662,443 6,580,920

EXPENSES          
Annual General Meeting 8,907 4,558
Audit 3,605 3,030
Bank and service fees 507 432
Board expenses 1,374 833
Board honorarium 1,200 -
Communications 8,620 8,335
Insurance 12,408 8,794
Memberships and subscriptions 2,211 3,725
Miscellaneous 20,580 2,435
Office supplies 5,898 4,669
Payments to agencies 8,505,456 5,634,053
Payments to authorities 113,850 148,300
Payroll processing 1,186 1,085
Postage and courier 974 880
Printing and stationery 2,237 1,082
Professional fees 84,833 -
Rent 35,756 34,454
Salaries and benefits 512,992 507,362
Staff development 3,108 3,647
Strategic planning 15,671 -
Transition 2,142 67,976
Travel 110,318 89,820

9,453,833 6,525,470

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES BEFORE OTHER
EXPENSES 208,610 55,450

OTHER EXPENSES          
Amortization (22,088) (24,218)

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES $ 186,522 $ 31,232
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended March 31, 2007

2007 2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenue over expenses $ 186,522 $ 31,232
Item not affecting cash:        

Amortization 22,088 24,218

 208,610 55,450

Changes in non-cash working capital:          
Accounts receivable (559,905) (442,717)
Prepaid expenses and deposits (5,859) (776)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 684,350 222,211

118,586 (221,282)

Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 327,196 (165,832)

INVESTING ACTIVITY        
Purchase of equipment   (33,053) (7,756)

Cash flow used by investing activity (33,053) (7,756)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW 294,143 (173,588)

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 863,213 1,036,801

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 1,157,356 $ 863,213

CASH FLOWS SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Interest received $ 50,010 $ 18,385
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2007

1. DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS    

The First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority (Northern Authority) has been
incorporated under the Child and Family Services Authority Act, which was proclaimed by the Province of
Manitoba on November 24, 2003.

The mandate of the Northern Authority is to administer and provide for the delivery of child and family
services in Manitoba to people who are members of the northern First Nation, people who identify with those
northern First Nations and others as determined in accordance with protocols established in the regulations
which form part of the Child and Family Services Authority Act.  The Northern Authority is exempt from
income taxes under Section 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act.

On June 10, 2002 legislation to create the First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services
Authority was introduced in the Legislative Assembly.  Royal Assent was received on August 9, 2002.  The
Child and Family Services Authorities Act came into force upon proclamation. Proclamation occurred on
November 30, 2003.  All assets and liabilities of 4601149 Manitoba Association Inc. as of November 30, 2003
were transferred to the First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority on December
1, 2003. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles.  Because a precise determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the
preparation of financial statements for a period necessarily involves the use of estimates which have been made
using careful judgement.  The financial statements have, in management's opinion, been properly prepared
within the reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the significant accounting policies
summarized below:

Equipment       

Equipment is initially recorded at cost.  Amortization is provided using the straight-line method at rates
intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

 
Computer equipment 3 years
Computer software 5 years
Equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

In the year of acquisition, amortization is taken at one-half of the above rates.

Revenue recognition 

Authority funding from the Province of Manitoba is recognized when earned.
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2007

3. EQUIPMENT           
2007 2006

Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value

Computer equipment $ 52,099 $ 42,407 $ 9,692 $ 8,458
Computer software 10,214 4,631 5,583 4,315
Equipment 49,619 23,539 26,080 9,042
Furniture and fixtures 19,764 12,397 7,367 15,942

$ 131,696 $ 82,974 $ 48,722 $ 37,757

During the year ended March 31, the Authority incurred the following capital expenditures:

2007 2006

Computer equipment $ 9,751 $ 3,134
Computer software 3,008 3,592
Furniture 18,223 540
Equipment 2,071 490

$ 33,053 $ 7,756

4. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED ASSETS         

The Board approved the following internal restrictions:

2007 2006

Legal Counsel $ 88,000 $ 88,500
Education and Training 94,152 137,800
Copier Replacement 6,722 4,174
Furniture / Equipment Replacement 6,722 4,174
Transitional Expenses to Northern Location 50,600 50,600
Winnipeg projects 24,369 -
Communication strategy 100,000 -
Research and development 100,000 -

$ 470,565 $ 285,248

5. EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS    

Externally restricted net assets represents the unspent portion of Transition Grant Funding received from the
Province of Manitoba.  The grant is to be used for the Aboriginal Justice Inquiry - Child Welfare Initiative one-
time transition activities connected to the establishment of the Northern Authority and to assist Family Service
Agencies in extending their operations and have the ability to accept the scheduled transfer of cases.
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FIRST NATIONS OF NORTHERN MANITOBA CHILD AND FAMILY SERVICES
AUTHORITY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2007

6. PUBLIC SECTOR COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE ACT        

It is a requirement of the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act that annual public disclosure be made of
aggregate compensation paid to employees, officers and directors in an amount exceeding $50,000.  For the
year ended March 31, 2007, the following officers, directors or employees received compensation at reportable
levels:

2007 Salary Range

Rose McKay Chief Executive Officer $84,011 to $93,965
Kaye Dunlop Legal Counsel $70,000 to $70,000
Cheryl Freeman Chief Financial Officer $60,463 to $82,449
Sherry Gott Senior Manager $51,847 to $60,285

7. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE    

First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority is solely dependent on the Province of
Manitoba for revenue to fund its operations.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS   

The Authority's financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.  Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the Authority is not exposed to significant
interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.  The fair value of these financial
instruments approximate their carrying values, unless otherwise noted.

9. COMPARATIVE FIGURES   

The prior year comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.
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BDO Dunwoody LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in Ontario
BDO Dunwoody s.r.l. est une société à responsabilité limitée constituée en Ontario
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BDO Dunwoody LLP/s.r.l.
Chartered Accountants and Advisors
Comptables agréés et conseillers

700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Winnipeg  Manitoba  Canada  R3C 4L5
Telephone/Téléphone: (204) 956-7200
Fax/Télécopieur: (204) 926-7201
Toll Free/Sans frais: 1-800-268-3337
www.bdo.ca

Auditors' Report

To the Members of
INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA

We have audited the statement of financial position of INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA as
at March 31, 2007 and the statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for
the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Council's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Council as at March 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
April 18, 2007
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Statement of Financial Position

March 31 2007 2006

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and bank $ 110,148 $ 96,851
Short-term investments (Note 3) 7,599 37,815
Accounts receivable 1,145 2,941
Interest receivable  29,496 13,630
Prepaid expenses 16,336 8,186

164,724 159,423

Long-term investments (Note 4) 755,293 623,675

Capital assets (Note 6) 34,721 37,696

$ 954,738 $ 820,794

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 49,278 $ 46,735
Deferred revenue 138,544 126,314

187,822 173,049

Net Assets
Information Technology Reserve (Note 7) 60,000 60,000
Unrestricted net assets 706,916 587,745

766,916 647,745

$ 954,738 $ 820,794

On behalf of the Council:

Member

Member

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006

Revenue
Licences (Note 5) $ 645,678 $ 622,007
Other 43,598 50,121
Examinations 47,592 47,864
Interest income 37,267 20,268

774,135 740,260

Expenses
Advertising, dues and subscriptions 4,289 4,158
Amortization 11,465 14,152
Bad debts - 700
Bank charges and interest 468 468
Computer consulting fees 24,765 7,918
Council 18,382 22,125
Equipment leases 5,123 6,316
Insurance 10,843 10,577
Meetings and travel 31,120 35,677
Office and equipment rental 26,350 36,923
Postage and courier 7,449 11,605
Professional fees 63,303 23,820
Rent 63,044 59,233
Salaries and benefits 375,397 358,318
Telephone 7,650 8,106
Training 5,316 6,297

654,964 606,393

Excess of revenues over expenses for the year 119,171 133,867

Net assets, beginning of year 587,745 513,878

Transfer to Information Technology Reserve (Note 7) - (60,000)

Net assets, end of year $ 706,916 $ 587,745

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income for the year $ 119,171 $ 133,867

Amortization 11,465 14,152
Changes in non-cash working capital balances

Accounts receivable 1,796 (742)
Interest receivable (15,866) 387
Prepaid expenses (8,150) (600)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,543 5,462
Deferred revenue 12,230 632

123,189 153,158

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (8,490) (2,104)
Purchase of investments (131,618) (106,444)

(140,108) (108,548)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year (16,919) 44,610

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 134,666 90,056

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 117,747 $ 134,666

Represented by

Cash and bank $ 110,148 $ 96,851
Short-term investments 7,599 37,815

$ 117,747 $ 134,666

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

March 31, 2007

Financial Instruments The Council's financial instruments consist of cash,
accounts receivable, interest receivable, short-term
investments, long-term investments and accounts payable.
Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the
Council is not exposed to significant interest, currency or
credit risks arising from these financial instruments. The fair
values of these financial instruments approximate their
carrying values, unless otherwise noted.

Basis of Accounting These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles.

Investments Investment in short-term securities are recorded at cost.

Investments in long-term securities are recorded at cost.
When there is an other than temporary decline in the fair
value of investments, the carrying value is reduced to fair
value.

Capital Assets Capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20 % diminishing balance basis
Computer hardware 30 % diminishing balance basis
Computer software 30 % diminishing balance basis

Information Technology Reserve The Information Technology Reserve is to be used for
funding future upgrades to the Council's information
technology system.

Revenue Recognition License fees are recognized as income over the term of the
license period. Examinations revenue is recognized when
the exam is administered. Interest revenue is recognized on
an accrual basis. Other fee revenue is recognized as
services are provided.

6Page 305



INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

1. Nature of Business    

The Council was created under the provisions of the Insurance Act (Manitoba) on October 17,
1991 and commenced activities on May 6, 1992. The purpose of the Council is to administer
the examinations for and licensing of insurance agents in Manitoba. The Council is exempt
from income taxes under section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Employee Benefits   

The Council matches employee RRSP contributions. Employees may contribute up to 5.1
percent on the first $35,400 of earnings and up to 7 percent on earnings thereafter up to the
maximum level allowed under federal taxation regulations. The Council's contributions to
employee RRSPs for the year ended March 31, 2007 were $16,894 ($15,391 in 2006).

3. Short-term Investments   
2007 2006

Bank of Montreal Money Market Fund $ 7,599 $ 37,815

The fair value of the short-term investment approximates the carrying value.
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

4. Long-term Investments    

2007 2006

Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
Value Value Value Value

AGF Trust Company GIC, 2.96%
due July 28, 2006 $ - $ - $ 50,000 $ 50,000

MBNA Canada Bank Deposit, 6.00%
due September 11, 2006 - - 20,090 20,000

MBNA Canada Bank Medium Term Deposit
3.75% due September 15, 2006 - - 19,900 20,000

Manitoba Builder Bonds, 3.80%
due June 15, 2007 149,813 150,000 145,575 150,000

Home Trust Company GIC, 3.70%
due October 22, 2007 58,659 53,675 56,566 53,675

Manitoba Builder Bonds, 4.25%
due June 15, 2008 58,497 50,000 50,000 50,000

Manitoba Builder Bonds, 3.25%
due June 15, 2008 49,356 50,000 47,050 50,000

Maple Trust GIC, 4.20% due March 10, 2009 36,556 35,000 35,083 35,000

AGF Trust Company GIC, 4.175%
due October 20, 2009 66,307 60,000 63,650 60,000

Manitoba Builder Bonds, 3.70%
due June 15, 2010 105,024 100,000 100,000 100,000

Province of Manitoba Portfolio Allocation
Notes, Series 1 34,161 35,000 35,190 35,000

Canadian Western Bank GIC, 4.45%
due 08/04/2009 30,879 30,000 - -

Bank of Montreal GIC, 6 yr. due 06/14/2012 69,720 70,000 - -

Equitable Trust GIC, 3.70% due 9/20/2007 20,375 20,375 - -

Equitable Trust GIC, 3.75% due 9/14/2007 20,611 20,611 - -

MB Hydro Bonds, Series 9, 4.35% due 6/15/2011 50,000 50,000 - -

Montreal Trust GIC, 4.00% due 8/01/2007 30,632 30,632 - -

$ 780,590 $ 755,293 $ 623,104 $ 623,675

The investments are classified as long-term since it is the intent of the Council to reinvest the
investments when they mature.
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

5. Related Party Transactions     

The Council and the Office of the Superintendent of Insurance of Manitoba (OSIM) levy fees
on members. The Council acts as agent and remits 44 percent of license and other fees and
15 percent of examination fees to the OSIM. These amounts are not included in the financial
statements. In 2007, this amount is $549,918 ($527,735 in 2006).

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $32,083 ($27,280 in 2006) payable to
OSIM.

6. Capital Assets    

2007 2006

Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book 
Cost  Amortization  Value Cost  Amortization Value 

Computer software $ 87,479 $ 79,474 $ 8,005 $ 86,701 $ 76,210 $ 10,491
Furniture & fixtures 47,354 36,870 10,484 44,255 34,636 9,619
Computer hardware 93,109 76,877 16,232 88,495 70,909 17,586

$ 227,942 $ 193,221 $ 34,721 $ 219,451 $ 181,755 $ 37,696

7. Transfer to Information Technology Reserve    

In 2006, the Council adopted a motion to internally restrict $60,000 of accumulated net assets
for the establishment of an Information Technology Reserve. The reserve will be used for
future upgrades to the Council's information technology system.

8. Commitments        

The Council leases equipment and office premises under the provisions of operating leases
which expire up to November 2011. Commitments to expiry are as follows:

2008 $ 69,213
2009 70,891
2010 70,371
2011 26,407
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INSURANCE COUNCIL OF MANITOBA
Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2007

9. Use of Estimates   

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from management's best estimates as additional information becomes available in the
future.

10. Contributed Services   

The work of the Council is dependent on the voluntary services of members. The value of
donated services is not recognized in these financial statements.
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Revenue and Expense
for the year ended March 31

2007 2006

Revenue
Province of Manitoba (Note 9) $  20,677,425  $  20,524,142 
Manitoba Law Foundation (Note 10)  1,493,901  1,153,929 
Contributions from clients  838,954  890,806 
Recoveries from third parties  273,784  389,978 
Government of Canada  246,140  270,688 
Judgment costs and settlements  102,722  93,466 
Interest income  46,873  22,360 
Other  3,086  10,214 

$  23,682,886  $  23,355,583 

Expense
Private bar fees and disbursements (Note 13)

Legal aid certificates $  7,481,994  $  8,776,126 
Duty counsel services  295,686  341,787 
Transcripts and Other Contributed Services  81,383  101,114 

 7,859,063  9,219,027 

Community Law Centres, Schedule 1  9,546,499  9,041,179 
Public Interest Law Centre, Schedule 1  565,327  574,103 
University Law Centre, Schedule 1  96,663  90,692 
General and Administrative, Schedule 1  5,049,831  4,605,781 

$  23,117,383  $  23,530,782 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue over Expense $  565,503  $  (175,199)
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended March 31

2007 2006

Total Total

Balance, Beginning of Year $  231,057  $  91,311  $  994,667  $  1,317,035  $  1,492,234 
Restricted Net Assets Expenses  -  (204)  204  -  - 
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue over Expense  (107,123)  -  672,626  565,503  (175,199)
Capital Asset Additions  227,541  -  (227,541)  -  - 

BALANCE, END OF YEAR $  351,475  $  91,107  $  1,439,956  $  1,882,538  $  1,317,035 

Invested in
Capital Assets

Restricted Net
Assets (Note

15)
Unrestricted Net

Assets
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31

2007 2006

Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities:

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue over Expense $  565,503  $  (175,199)

Add items not affecting cash
Amortization  107,123  55,200 
Bad debt expense  207,773  182,078 

Changes in working capital:
Client accounts receivable  (80,731)  (90,666)
Province of Manitoba receivable  165,000  (515,000)
Government of Canada receivable  (55,226)  91,593 
Other receivables  (98,357)  (83,036)
Prepaid expenses  21,498  2,241 
Accounts payable and accrued vacation pay  (183,882)  153,532 
Deferred revenue  (5,341)  26,569 

 643,360  (352,688)
Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities:

Charges on land  3,495  17,842 
Long-term funding commitments  (1,028,751)  (939,755)
Severance liability  199,473  105,269 
Provision for employee pension benefits  1,028,751  939,755 

 202,968  123,111 
Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Investing Activities:

Purchase of capital assets  (227,541)  (40,053)
 (227,541)  (40,053)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash for the Year  618,786  (269,630)

Cash - Beginning of Year  1,468,182  1,737,812 

Cash - End of Year $  2,086,968 $  1,468,182 
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA
SCHEDULE 1

Schedule of Expenses
for the year ended March 31

COMMUNITY LAW CENTRES TOTAL
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Advertising $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  25,314  $  24,159  $  25,314  $  24,159 
Amortization  77,786  26,580  2,967  3,045  -  -  26,370  25,575  107,123  55,200 
Bad debts  -  -  -  -  -  -  207,773  182,078  207,773  182,078 

Bank charges  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,190  2,159  2,190  2,159 
Collection costs  -  -  -  -  -  -  7,481  8,587  7,481  8,587 
Computer costs  13,473  25,971  -  1,335  -  132  29,932  32,863  43,405  60,301 

Council expenses  -  -  -  -  -  -  112,045  88,315  112,045  88,315 
Duty counsel  190,417  183,099  -  -  -  105  813  1,389  191,230  184,593 
Equipment maintenance  85,481  57,091  11,509  7,859  -  -  47,996  27,861  144,986  92,811 

 -  -  25,350  22,710  -  -  -  -  25,350  22,710 
File disbursements  231,382  215,546  45,158  85,057  978  1,138  26,935  22,354  304,453  324,095 
Library  27,296  26,396  6,008  6,629  74  -  25,548  23,878  58,926  56,903 

Meetings  27,818  28,925  13,610  93  -  -  18,436  16,263  59,863  45,281 
Office expenses  184,766  217,246  14,325  17,650  3,580  1,479  155,222  136,020  357,893  372,395 
Office relocation  4,371  3,748  -  183  -  -  1,133  -  5,505  3,931 

Pension costs (note 14)  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,258,250  1,130,842  1,258,250  1,130,842 
Premise costs  612,674  536,733  23,495  20,473  39  -  172,316  147,551  808,524  704,757 
Professional fees  127,375  104,492  8,999  8,946  -  -  153,192  237,505  289,565  350,943 

Salaries, benefits and levy  7,712,682  7,368,302  400,896  386,177  86,869  83,169  2,333,361  2,209,925  10,533,808  10,047,573 
Severance benefits  -  -  -  -  -  -  290,575  172,642  290,575  172,642 

Staff development  39,699  41,180  1,877  3,681  -  -  84,088  58,015  125,664  102,876 
Staff recruitment  22,159  16,525  105  66  -  -  10,327  494  32,591  17,085 
Telephone  95,933  88,501  5,069  4,880  2,617  1,779  42,049  41,874  145,669  137,034 

 9,663  14,561  -  -  55  -  -  -  9,718  14,561 

Travel  83,524  86,283  5,959  5,319  2,451  2,890  18,484  15,432  110,418  109,924 

TOTAL $  9,546,499  $  9,041,179  $  565,327  $  574,103  $  96,663  $  90,692  $  5,049,831  $  4,605,781  $  15,258,320  $  14,311,755 

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW
CENTRE

UNIVERSITY LAW
CENTRE

GENERAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE

Expert witnesses and
consultants

Transcripts and Other
Contributed Services
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The management of the Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation 	
is responsible for the integrity, objectivity and reliability of the financial 
statements, accompanying notes and other financial information in the 	
annual report.

Management maintains internal control systems to ensure that transactions 	
are accurately recorded in accordance with established policies and 
procedures. In addition, certain best estimates and judgements have 	
been made based on a careful assessment of the available data.

The financial statements and accompanying notes are examined by the 
Auditor General for Manitoba, whose opinion is included herein. The Auditor 
General has access to the Board of Directors, with or without management 
present, to discuss the results of their audit and the quality of financial 
reporting of the corporation.

Neil Hamilton	 Jim Lewis	
President & 	 Vice President, 	
Chief Executive Officer	 Finance & Administration

June 15, 2007

responsibility for  
financial statements 
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balance sheet
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

		   
						      2007	 2006

Assets:

Cash	  $	 1,538	  $	 – 
Investments (Notes 3(B) & 7) 	 	 193,454 	  	 145,730 
Accounts receivable (Note 8)	  	 22,696	  	 13,453 
Prepaid expenses	 	 93	 	 126 
Loans receivable (Note 9)	 	 300,419 	  	 314,623 
Real estate (Note 11)	 	 806 	 	  1,161 
Property and equipment (Note 12)	 	 305 	 	  351 

	 	  $	 519,311 	  $	 475,444 

	
Liabilities and funds retained:	 						    

Bank indebtedness	 $	 – 	  $	 1,794 
Reinsurance premiums payable (Notes 13 & 14)	  	 3,056 	  	 1,099 
Claims payable (Note 15)	 	 12,411 	  	 19,332 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 16)	  	 11,138 	  	 11,227 
Provision for losses on guaranteed loans (Note 22)	  	 12,244 	  	 11,130 
Advances from the Province of Manitoba (Note 18)	 	 326,478 	  	 342,820  
Deferred revenue (Note 19)	  	 305 	  	 351 
Funds retained	  	 153,679 	  	 87,691 

	 	  $	 519,311 	  $	 475,444

John S. Plohman	 Freida Krpan	

Chair	 Vice Chair

Approved by the Board:
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statement of operations 
and funds retained
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

			   2007		 2006

REVENUE:

Insurance premiums (Note 3(I))	 	 	 	
	 Insured producers	  $	 58,848 	  $	 41,445 	
	 Government of Canada	 	  42,507 	 	 29,710	
	 Province of Manitoba	 	 28,336 	  	 19,800 

	 	 	  129,691 	  	 90,955 

Interest from loans	 	 20,444	 	 20,547	
Other contributions - Government of Canada	 	 6,894 	 	  9,191	
Other contributions - Province of Manitoba	 	  36,301 	 	 32,483 	
Investment income	 	  6,782 	 	  7,259	
Real estate and other income	 	  1,040	 	  1,144	
Reinsurance recoveries (Notes 13 & 14)	 	  118 	 	  89,470

Total revenue	 	  201,270	 	  251,049

	
EXPENDITURE:			 

Insurance indemnities and compensation payments (Note 20)	 	  50,494 	 	  304,347 
Reinsurance premiums (Notes 13 & 14)	 	  18,118 	 	  12,877 
Interest on borrowed funds	 	  19,621 	  	 20,389 
Bad debt expense and guaranteed loan losses (Notes 10 & 22)		  1,688	 	 1,694
Young farmer incentives	 	  1,338	 	  1,400	
Farmland school tax rebate payments 	 	 26,034	 	  20,614	
Other program payments 	 	  294	 	  689	
Administrative expenses (Schedule 1)	 	  17,695	 	  19,678

Total expenditure	 	  135,282 	 	  381,688

	
Income (loss) for the year	 	 65,988	  	(130,639)
Funds retained, beginning of year	 	  87,691 	 	 218,330 

Funds retained, end of year	  $	153,679 	  $	 87,691 
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statement of cash flows
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

 
							       2007	 2006

Cash provided by (used for) 	
Operating activities	
Income (loss) for year	
	 Income (loss) before investment interest revenue	 $	 59,206	 $	 (137,898)
	 Investment interest revenue	 	 6,782 	 	 7,259
	 	 	 	 65,988	 	 (130,639)
Items not involving cash	
	 Change in provisions and allowances	 	 478	 	 (825)
	 Gain on disposal of real estate	 	 (145)	 	 (134)
	 Amortization of property and equipment	 	 122	 	 146 
Loans disbursed	 	 (69,215)	 	 (83,547)
Loan principal received	 	 51,704	 	 113,607 
Changes in:	
	 Accounts receivable	 	 (9,042)	 	 27,967
	 Prepaid expenses	 	 33	 	 6 
	 Loans receivable	 	 32,223	 	 (16,600)
	 Reinsurance premiums payable	 	 1,957	 	 (1,750)
	 Claims payable	 	 (6,921)	 	 67 
	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 	 (205)	 	 462

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities	 	  66,977	 	 (91,240)
	
Investing activities	
	 Sale (purchase) of investments	 	  (14,326)	 	 126,022
	 Net proceeds on sale of real estate	 	  543	 	 342
	 Purchase of property and equipment	 	 (76)	 	 (139)

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities	 	 (13,859)	 	 126,225
	
Financing activities	
	 Advances repaid to the Province of Manitoba	 	 (16,342)	 	 (21,657)
	 Deferred revenue	 	 (46)	 	 (6)

Cash used for financing activities	 	 (16,388)	 	 (21,663)
	
Net increase in cash and equivalents	 	 36,730	 	 13,322
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year	 	  57,258	 	 43,936

Cash and equivalents, end of year	 	 93,988 	 	 57,258
	
Cash and equivalents comprised of the following:	
	 Investments	 	 193,454	 	 145,730	
	 Investments with terms greater than 90 days	 	 101,004	 	 86,678

Investments with terms of 90 days or less	 	  92,450	 	 59,052
Cash (bank indebtedness)	 	 1,538	 	 (1,794)

	 	 	 $	 93,988 	  $	 57,258 
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1.	 Authority and Purpose
The Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation (MACC) was established under The Agricultural Credit Corporation 
Act. The Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation (MCIC) was established under The Crop Insurance Act. As a result of 
the proclamation of The Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation Act, C.C.S.M. c.A25 on September 1, 2005, MACC 
and MCIC were amalgamated to form the Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation (MASC) and the legislation 
establishing the former corporations was repealed.

MASC provides lending, insurance and other programs and services. Its core programs include direct loans to 
agriculture producers, loan guarantees, Production Insurance and Hail Insurance. It also delivers the Wildlife Damage 
Compensation program, Farmland School Tax Rebate and other programs and services for the agricultural industry. 

2.	 Basis of Reporting 
MASC’s financial statements are presented in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

3.	 Significant Accounting Policies 
(A)	Programs 
		 Under the provisions of the applicable legislation, MASC delivers insurance, lending and other programs and 

services. For financial accounting purposes, all programs are treated as separate operations and are accounted 	
for separately.

(B)	 Investments 
		 Investments are carried at cost, which approximates market value. Funds in excess of operational needs are 	

invested with the Province of Manitoba, in accordance with Section 52(1) of The Manitoba Agricultural Services 
Corporation Act. 

(C)	Property and Equipment and Amortization 
		 Property and equipment are reported at cost less accumulated amortization. Property and equipment 	

are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, as follows:

		 Furniture and Equipment 	 10 years 	
Computer Hardware 	 4 years 	
Computer Software 	 4 years 	
Major Software Development	 8 years 	
Leasehold Improvements 	 remaining term of lease 

notes to financial statements
as at March 31, 2007 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
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(D)	 Pensions
		 MASC employees are pensionable under The Civil Service Superannuation Act.
		 Effective April 1, 1998, the former Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation (MCIC) became a fully funded matching 

employer. Upon the formation of the Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation (MASC), the former MCIC 
employees’ current pension obligations to the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB) continued to be matched 	
by MASC. 

		 Prior to amalgamation, the Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation (MACC) did not match employees’ current 
service contributions, and instead contributed 50 per cent of the pension disbursements made to retired employees. 
Effective September 1, 2005, former MACC employees’ current pension contributions are matched on a go-forward 
basis. MASC accrues an unfunded provision for the liability for the employer’s share of the former MACC’s 
employees prior to September 1, 2005, including future cost of living adjustments, based on an actuarial 	
valuation. Details of the provision for the pension benefits are outlined in Note 17.

		 As a matching employer, MASC discharges its pension liability on a current basis and, therefore, has no additional 
pension obligation. MASC’s matching contributions for 2006/2007 totalled $516,563.

(E)	 Vacation and Severance Pay 
		 MASC employees are entitled to vacation and severance pay in accordance with the terms of the Collective Agreements 	

and corporate policy. The liabilities for vacation and severance pay are recorded based on MASC’s best estimates. 

(F)	 Provision for Losses on Loans and Guarantees
		 The provision for impaired loans is determined annually, through a review of individual accounts. The provision 

represents management’s best estimate of probable losses on receivables. Where circumstances indicate doubt as to the 
ultimate collectability of principal or interest, specific provisions are established for individual accounts. These accounts 
are valued at the lower of their recorded value or the estimated net realizable value of the security held for the accounts. In 
addition to the provision for impaired loans identified on an individual loan basis, MASC establishes a further provision 
representing management’s best estimate of additional probable losses in the entire loan portfolio.

		 The provisions for losses on loan guarantees are determined annually by a review of each guarantee program. The 
provisions represent management’s best estimate of probable claims against the guarantees. Such provisions are intended 
to cover principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any additional recoverable amounts.

		 Current year provisions for impaired loans and guarantees are charged as an expenditure to bad debt expense and 
guaranteed loan losses. Actual accounts that have been written off are charged to the appropriate provision.

(G)	 Real Estate Acquired in Settlement of Loans
		 Real estate that is acquired through foreclosure and voluntary transfers of titles in the settlement of loans is 

recorded at the lower of the recorded value of the loan or the appraised value of the real estate at acquisition date. 
Real estate is reported net of a provision for a decline in real estate values.

(H)	 Real Estate Under Long-Term Lease
		 Real estate that was acquired for the purpose of long-term lease to producers through the land lease program 	

is recorded at cost.
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(I)	 Premiums and Government Contributions 
	 MASC recognizes as revenue all premiums earned on insurance policies in force during the year. 

	 The Canada-Manitoba Production Insurance Agreement, which is Annex B to the Canada-Manitoba 
Implementation Agreement, provides for the cost sharing of the premiums under the Production Insurance 
program. Premiums for crop loss are shared between the insured producer (40 per cent), the Government of 
Canada (36 per cent) and the Province of Manitoba (24 per cent). For the previous fiscal year, premiums for crop 
loss coverage at the 50 per cent level were shared between insured producers (30 per cent), the Government of 
Canada (42 per cent) and the Province of Manitoba (28 per cent); and premiums for coverage above the 50 per 
cent level were shared between insured producers (45 per cent), the Government of Canada (33 per cent) and the 
Province of Manitoba (22 per cent). 

	 In addition to the general premiums sharing provisions noted above, alternative premium sharing arrangements 
apply for basic Excess Moisture Insurance (EMI), the EMI Zero Deductible Option and the Fall Frost Insurance 
Pilot program.

(J)	Administrative Expenses  
	 Identifiable administrative expenses for all of the programs administered by MASC are charged directly to the specific 

program. Where the direct charging of administrative expenses to specific programs is not possible, these expenses are 
allocated to each program on a basis approved by MASC’s Board of Directors. 

	 The federal-provincial agreement relating to the Production Insurance program referred to in Section (I) of this note, 
stipulates that administrative expenses, net of any administrative revenues, will be shared by the Government of Canada 	
(60 per cent) and the Province of Manitoba (40 per cent).

(K)	 Use of Estimates 
	 The preparation of MASC’s financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(L)	 Financial Instruments  
	 MASC’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, loans receivable, investments, accounts payable and 

advances from the Province of Manitoba. 

	 Credit Risk:	
MASC provides direct loans to clients in the normal course of operations. Credit reviews of individual clients are carried 	
out on a continuing basis, thereby providing estimated provisions for contingent credit losses.

	 Interest Rate Risk:	
Interest rate risk is the risk to MASC’s earnings that arises from fluctuations in interest rates. During the year ended 
March 31, 2007, MASC did not utilize derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. 

	 Fair Value of Financial Instruments:	
Financial instruments are valued at cost, with adjustments for any applicable allowance for doubtful accounts. This is 
considered to be equivalent to fair value and applies to cash, investments, other receivables, accounts payable, and accrued 
liabilities. Fair value of loans receivable and advances from the Province of Manitoba are disclosed in their respective notes.

manitoba agricultural services corporation 
2006/2007 annual report

 – 30 –
manitoba agricultural services corporation 

2006/2007 annual report

 – 31 –

Page 341



4. Wildlife Damage Compensation Program 
MASC administers the Wildlife Damage Compensation program, which compensates producers for 80 per cent of damage 
to agricultural crops and products caused by waterfowl or wildlife (big game animals), and the injury or death of domestic 
livestock caused by natural predators. Compensation and all administrative expenses are shared by the Government of 
Canada (60 per cent) and the Province of Manitoba (40 per cent).  

5. Farmland School Tax Rebate Program 
In April 2005, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Farmland School Tax Rebate program. The 
purpose of the program is to assist Manitoba farmland owners by providing a rebate of 60 per cent of the school tax paid 
on farmland in 2006. The rebate was increased from 50 per cent in 2005. The program provides a three-year time frame 
for claiming rebates. Recorded rebate payments of $26,034,000 include a provision of $4,431,000 for 2006 rebates, which 
have not yet been applied for. In addition, a provision of $3,016,000 remains for 2005 rebates. The Province of Manitoba 
pays for the full cost of the program.

6. Other Programs 
Manitoba Agriculture Weather Service Consortium
In March 2005, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Agriculture Weather Service 
Consortium. The purpose of this initiative is to establish a network of weather stations, which will provide the regional 
weather data that is required to forecast pest and plant disease outbreaks and moisture conditions for crop production. A 
total of $129,000 in administrative expenses was incurred for the year ended March 31, 2007 (2006 - $185,000). Funding 
for this project was provided to MASC by the Manitoba Association of Agricultural Societies.

Expanded Manitoba Soil Survey
In April 2005, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Expanded Manitoba Soil Survey project. 
The purpose of this project is to provide detailed soil surveys in selected rural municipalities to facilitate sustainable 
agricultural development. A total of $216,000 in administrative expenses was incurred for the year ended March 31, 2007 
(2006 - $562,000). Funding for this project was provided to MASC by the Manitoba Association 	
of Agricultural Societies.

ALUS: An Ecological Goods and Services Research Project – Manitoba
In December 2005, MASC became responsible for the administration of ALUS: An Ecological Goods and Services 
Research Project – Manitoba in the RM of Blanshard (ALUS stands for Alternative Land Use Services). The goal of 
this project is to test and evaluate the concept of paying producers for specified land management practices that are 
determined to produce/maintain environmental benefits. Producers’ payments totalled $294,000 and were funded 	
by Keystone Agricultural Producers (KAP). A total of $82,000 in administrative expenses was incurred for the year ended 
March 31, 2007 (2006 - $52,000), which was jointly funded by the Manitoba Association of Agricultural 	
Societies ($32,500) and the Province of Manitoba’s Covering New Ground Initiative ($49,500).
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7.	 Investments
	 MASC’s investments as of March 31, 2007 consist of the following:

Investment		  production	h ail	F armland 
maturity	 average	 insurance	 insurance	S chool Tax	 2007	 2006 
terms	 interest rate	 program	 program	R ebate Program	 total	 total

1 year	 	 4.087%	 $	 146,922	 	 23,538	 	 5,294	 $	 175,754	 $	 110,730	
2 years	 	 3.362%	 	 8,300	 	 2,500	 	 –	 	 10,800	 	 19,200	
3 years	 	 3.992%	 	 –	 	 2,700	 	 –	 	 2,700	 	 10,800	
4 years	 	 3.874%	 	 –	 	 2,700	 	 –	 	 2,700	 	 2,700	
5 years	 	 4.180%	 	 –	 	 1,500	 	 –	 	 1,500	 	 2,300

	 	 4.043%	 $	 155,222	 	 32,938	 	 5,294	 $	 193,454	 $	 145,730

8.	 Accounts Receivable 
	 MASC’s accounts receivable as of March 31, 2007 consist of the following:

	P roduction 		h  ail	F armland	  
	In surance 	 lending	 insurance	S chool Tax	O ther	 2007	 2006 
	P rogram	 programs	 program	R ebate Program	P rograms	 total	 total

Insured producers	 $	 2,694	 –	 761	 	 1	 –	 $	 3,456	 $	 883
Government of Canada	 	 5,816	 –	 –	 	 –	 183	 	 5,999	 	 1,949	
Province of Manitoba	 	 9,105	 –	 –	 	 2,540	 –	 	 11,645	 	 8,409	
Accrued investment interest	 	 935	 –	 247	 	 33	 –	 	 1,215	 	 860	
Reinsurance receivable	 	 269	 –	 –	 	 –	 –	 	 269	 	 1,105	
Other	 	 85	 18	 –	 	 –	 9	 	 112	 	 247

	 $	18,904	 18	 1,008	 	 2,574	 192	 $	 22,696	 $	 13,453
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9.	 Loans Receivable
	 MASC’s loans receivable as of March 31, 2007 consist of the following:

			   2007	 2006

Amounts are due over the following terms:	 	 	 	 	
1 year	 	 Accrued interest	 $	 9,882	 $	 10,221	
	 	 Arrears	 	 16,668	 	 33,141
	 	 Prepayments	 	 (9,880)	 	 (10,648)
	 	 Regular instalments	 	 43,221	 	 52,620

	 	 	 	 59,891	 	 85,334	
2 years    		 Regular instalments	 	 30,710	 	 29,709	
3 years     	 Regular instalments	 	 31,221	 	 26,841	
4 years     	 Regular instalments	 	 29,512	 	 26,236	
5 years     	 Regular instalments	 	 23,847	 	 23,118	
Over 5 years  	 Regular instalments	 	 154,989	 	 153,643

	 	 	 	 330,170	 	 344,881	
Less: Provisions for impaired loans (Note 10)	 	 29,751	 	 30,258

	 	 	     $	300,419	 $	 314,623

	 The approximate fair value of loans receivable as of March 31, 2007 is $320,380,000 (2006 – $335,667,200). Fair value 	
	 is based on expected future cash flows discounted by current interest rates for loans with similar terms and credit risk.

Terms of Loans Receivable

All loans have fixed rates, with an average yield breakdown as follows:

		R  egular	 special	  
		  program	 assistance	 total 
		  loans	 loans*	 loans

4.0% and lower	 $	 2	 $	 12,417	 $	 12,419	
4.01% to 5.0%	 	 1,714	 	 11,394	 	 13,108	
5.01% to 6.0%	 	 20,713	 	 40,916	 	 61,629	
6.01% to 7.0%	 	 150,431	 	 14,007	 	 164,438	
7.01% to 8.0%	 	 72,465	 	 772	 	 73,237	
More than 8.0%	 	 5,258	 	 81	 	 5,339

	 $	 250,583	 $	 79,587	 $	 330,170

*Includes BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofing Assistance and Comprehensive Refinancing Program loans
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Loans maturities are as follows:

		  Average 	 regular	 special 
		In  terest 	 program	 assistance	 total 
		R  ate	 loans	 loans*	 loans

Less than 5 years	 	 5.763%	 $	 47,414	 $	 58,223	 $	 105,637	
5 to 10 years	 	 6.645%	 	 60,809	 	 14,165	 	 74,974	
10 to 15 years	 	 6.839%	 	 73,674	 	 4,393	 	 78,067	
15 to 20 years	 	 6.895%	 	 53,448	 	 2,575	 	 56,023	
20 to 25 years	 	 6.706%	 	 15,238	 	 231	 	 15,469

	 	 	 $	 250,583	 $	 79,587	 $	 330,170

*Includes BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofing Assistance and Comprehensive Refinancing Program Loans

10.	Provisions For Impaired Loans

	 	R egular 	 special 
		P  rogram 	 assistance	 total 
		L  oans	 loans*	 loans

Beginning provision balance	 $	 15,626	 $	 14,632	 $	 30,258
Loans written off	 	 (687)	 	 (42)	 	 (729)
Provision (recovery)	 	 576	 	 (354)	 	 222

Ending provision balance	 $	 15,515	 $	 14,236	 $	 29,751

*Includes BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofing Assistance and Comprehensive Refinancing Program Loans

11.	Real Estate
Based on a review of the current real estate portfolio, MASC has established a provision of $14,000 (2006 - $57,000) to 
provide for future declines in real estate values. This provision represents management’s best estimate of probable losses 
on sale of real estate.

					     2007	 2006

Real estate book value	 	 	 $	 820	 $	 1,218
Provision for decline in real estate value	 	 	 	 (14)	 	 (57)

	 	 	 $	 806	 $	 1,161
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12.	Property and Equipment

				     	 2007	 2006

					     accumulated		  accumulated 
				C    ost	A mortization	 cost	A mortization

Furniture and equipment	 	 	 	 	 $	 359	 $	 177	 $	 404	 $	 191	
Computer hardware	 	 	 	 	 	 356	 	 318	 	 449	 	 389	
Computer software	 	 	 	 	 	 182	 	 105	 	 125	 	 86	
Major software development	 	 	 	 	 	 2,907	 	 2,907	 	 2,907	 	 2,895	
Leasehold improvements	 	 	 	 	 	 298	 	 290	 	 298	 	 271

	 	 	 	 	 	 $	 4,102	 $	 3,797	 $	 4,183	 $	 3,832

	 Net book value	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $	 305	 	 	 $	 351

13.	Reinsurance – Production Insurance Program 
In accordance with the terms of the reinsurance agreement between the Government of Canada and the Province of 
Manitoba, the two levels of government maintain separate reinsurance accounts. MASC pays reinsurance premiums 
to the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Canada for Manitoba, and to the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Manitoba, based on the 
amount of premiums collected and the cumulative financial balance of the program. When indemnities paid to insured 
producers exceed the funds retained by MASC, after accounting for private sector reinsurance recoveries, transfers are 
made from the reinsurance funds to MASC. Interest is neither credited nor charged to the respective reinsurance funds 
by the Government of Canada or the Province of Manitoba. Surpluses in the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Canada for 
Manitoba and the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Manitoba are held by the Government of Canada and the Province 	
of Manitoba, respectively. 

	C rop Reinsurance Fund of 	C rop Reinsurance Fund 
	C anada for Manitoba 	 of Manitoba

			   2007		  2006		  2007	 2006

Opening surplus (deficit)	 $	 831	 $	 427	 $	 22,850	 $	 22,446	
Current year premium contributions (net)*	 	 587	 	 404	 	 587	 	 404

Net book value	 $	 1,418	 $	 831	 $	 23,437	 $	 22,850

*Current year reinsurance premium contributions are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts.

MASC entered into a one-year private sector reinsurance agreement for the Production Insurance program in addition 
to the financial protection provided by the federal-provincial reinsurance agreement noted above. Through the private 
sector reinsurance agreement, 23 reinsuring companies assume 90 per cent of losses (including deemed loss adjustment 
expenses) from 15 to 25 per cent of Production Insurance liability (coverage). Reinsurance premiums were $16,063,000 
(2006 - $11,147,000). Private sector reinsurance recoveries totalled $118,000 (2006 - $89,470,000), which was for prior 
year reinsurance claims.

14.	Reinsurance – Hail Insurance Program  
MASC entered into a one-year private sector reinsurance agreement for the Hail Insurance program. Through the 
agreement, 13 reinsuring companies assume 90 per cent of hail insurance losses (including loss adjustment expenses) 
from 125 to 200 per cent of gross premium. Reinsurance premiums were $881,000 (2006 - $922,000). There were no 
reinsurance recoveries in 2007.
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15.	Claims Payable 
Claims payable of $12,411,000 (2006 - $19,332,000) includes: a provision of $3,900,000 (2006 - $9,270,000) for the 
Production Insurance program, which represents the liability for unpaid claims and the over-winter deterioration 
of unharvested crops; a provision of $7,447,000 (2006 - $4,754,000) for outstanding Farmland School Tax Rebate 
payments; and a provision of $274,000 (2006 - $381,000) for the Wildlife Damage Compensation program. The 	
balance represents actual claims payable. 

16.	Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts payable at March 31, 2007 include the following:

	P roduction 		W  ildlife Damage 
	In surance 	 lending	C ompensation	 other	 2007	 2006 
	P rogram	 programs	 program	 programs	 total	 total

Government of Canada	 $	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 $	 –	 $	 241	
Province of Manitoba	 	 1,308	 	 –	 	 18	 	 –	 	 1,326	 	 1,535	
Accrued vacation pay	 	 863	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 863	 	 859	
Provision for pension obligations 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
     (Note 17)	 	 6,124	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 6,124	 	 5,976	
Provision for severance obligations 	 	 1,386	 	 –	 	 –	 	 –	 	 1,386	 	 1,333	
Other	 	 858	 	 338	 	 33	 	 210	 	 1,439	 	 1,283

	 $   	10,539	 	 338	 	 51	 	 210	 $	 11,138	 $	 11,227

17.	Provision for Employee Pension Benefits 
MASC employees are eligible for defined benefit pensions under The Civil Service Superannuation Act. As outlined 
in Note 3(D), MASC contributes 50 per cent of the pension disbursements made to retired employees of the former 
Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation (MACC) for service up to September 1, 2005. Additionally, MASC has a 
pension liability for employees whose earnings are out of the scope of the Fund plan.

Actuarial valuations are to be carried out every three years to provide an estimate of the accrued liability for unfunded 
pension benefits. An actuarial valuation of the pension obligations as at December 31, 2004 was conducted by Ellement 
& Ellement. The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 6.50 per cent (2001 – 6.75 per cent), 2.50 per 
cent inflation (2001 – 2.75 per cent), salary rate increases of 3.25 per cent (2001 – 3.50 per cent) and post retirement 
indexing at two thirds of the inflation rate. The accrued benefit cost method with salary projection was used and 	
the liabilities have been extrapolated to March 31, 2007 using a formula provided by the actuary. The following table 
provides the calculation of the liability for unfunded pension benefits of $6,124,000 (2006 - $5,976,000):

		  2007		  2006

Accrued pension liability – beginning of year	 $	 5,976	 $	 6,210	
Experience gain	 	 –	 	 (499)	
Benefits accrued	 	 (37)	 	 102	
Interest accrued on benefits	 	 418	 	 406	
Benefits paid	 	 (233)	 	 (243)
Accrued pension liability – end of year	 $	 6,124	 $	 5,976
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18.	Advances from the Province of Manitoba 
In accordance with established Province of Manitoba practices, MASC must repay advances according to the 
amortization schedule or be subject to a prepayment penalty. The prepayment penalty is based on the net present 	
value of the future cash flows of the loan being prepaid less the net present value of a loan with the same terms, except 
having an interest rate of a semi-annual, non-callable Province of Manitoba bond with the same term to maturity.

Advances are repayable in equal annual blended instalments of principal and interest, with interest rates ranging 	
from 4.75 per cent to 8.00 per cent. The average interest rate of the entire portfolio at March 31, 2007 was 5.656 per cent 
(2006 - 5.752 per cent).

Maturities of principal over the following terms		  2007		  2006

1 year	 $	 61,010	 $	 62,213	
2 years	 	 39,204	 	 38,229	
3 years	 	 36,548	 	 36,272	
4 years	 	 33,095	 	 33,425	
5 years	 	 32,654	 	 29,711
More than 5 years	 	 123,967	 	 142,970

	 $	 326,478	 $	342,820

The approximate fair value of advances from the Province of Manitoba at March 31, 2007 is $339,611,000 	
(2006 - $357,312,000). Fair values for the advances from the Province of Manitoba are based on the net present 	
value of expected future cash flows, discounted by current interest rates for loans with similar terms and credit risk.

19.	Deferred Revenue  
Deferred revenue represents administrative subsidies provided by the Government of Canada and the Province of 
Manitoba and is used to acquire property and equipment. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when amortization 
is recorded on property and equipment. 

20.	Indemnities
Production Insurance indemnities of $44,323,000 (2006 - $297,377,000) represent $43,206,000 for the 2006/2007 	
crop year and $1,117,000 as a result of a shortfall in the estimate of claims payable set up as of March 31, 2006.

21.	Lease Agreements
MASC has entered into a number of long-term lease agreements. The minimum payments under these leases are 	
as follows: 

Year Ending March 31	L ease Agreement Amounts

2008	 $	 380	
2009	 	 139	
2010	 	 99	
2011	 	 42	
2012 and beyond	 	 3

	 $	 663
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22.	Contingencies 
(A)	 Contingent liabilities and the corresponding provisions for MASC’s loan guarantee programs as of March 31, 2007 	

are shown below.

	                 Contingent Liability	                   Provision for Losses

	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006

Operating Credit Guarantees	 $	 9,349	 $	 7,296	 $	 1,502	 $	 1,195	
Manitoba Livestock Associations Loan Guarantees	 	 4,683	 	 4,377	 	 1,171	 	 1,094	
Diversification Loan Guarantees	 	 7,609	 	 10,440	 	 1,141	 	 1,566	
Enhanced Diversification Loan Guarantees	 	 56,196	 	 48,502	 	 8,430	 	 7,275

	 $	 77,837	 $	 70,615	 $	 12,244	 $	 11,130

	 The Operating Credit Guarantee (OCG) program was introduced on April 1, 2003, replacing the Guaranteed 
Operating Loan program. The OCG provides the participating lending institution a guarantee of 25 per cent 	
of each individual loan made under this program. The maximum allowable individual loan is $450,000, with 
$700,000 available for partnerships, corporations and co-operatives.

	 The Manitoba Livestock Associations Loan Guarantee program was introduced in 1991. For each association, 
MASC provides a guarantee to the lending institutions based on 25 per cent of the amount of the loan to a 
maximum guarantee of $1,250,000.

	 The Diversification Loan Guarantee program was introduced in December 1995 to provide guarantees on loans 
made by participating lenders for diversification or farm value-added activities. Under this program, 25 per cent 	
of the private lender’s loan portfolio was guaranteed. The maximum allowable individual loan was $3.0 million.

	 In 2001, the Enhanced Diversification Loan Guarantee program replaced the Diversification Loan Guarantee 	
program. Guarantees are now based on 25 per cent of the original principal amount of each individual loan, 	
with no maximum loan amount.

(B)	 MASC provides surety bonds for certain agricultural agencies in the amount of $83,130 (2006 - $53,781). 	
No contingency provision is made for these undertakings in the financial statements. Any payments arising 	
from claims under these guarantees will be recorded as an expense in the period that such claims occur.

(C)	 As at March 31, 2007 MASC had approved but not disbursed loans in the amount of $16,621,358 	
(2006 - $21,204,999).

(D)	 Various legal actions for additional indemnity payments have been commenced by insured producers 	
against MASC. The outcome of these claims cannot be determined at this time.

23.	Actuarial Review 
An actuarial certification of the Production Insurance program was completed by Tillinghast - Towers Perrin, 
consulting actuaries, in June 2003. The actuarial review of MASC concludes that the methodologies used to establish 
the probable yields for insured crops meet the requirements of the federal Crop Insurance Regulation; that the premium 
rate methodologies are actuarially sound and are sufficient to meet expected claim costs; and that the program meets 
the financial self-sustaining criteria defined by the federal government.

A full actuarial certification has to be completed every five years with any new programs or program changes 	
requiring approval in the interim.
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24.	Related – Party Transactions
MASC is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba departments, agencies and 	
Crown corporations. MASC enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. 	
These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.

Interest earned on investments held by the Province of Manitoba amounted to $6,498,000 (2006 - $7,386,000). 	
Included in accounts receivable (Note 8) is $1,215,000 (2006 - $860,000) of accrued interest related to these 
investments.

25.	Comparative Figures  
The amalgamation of the Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation and the Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation 
resulted in the consolidation of financial reporting as if the corporations were one entity as of April 1, 2005. Certain 
2006 figures have been reclassified to conform to the 2007 financial statement presentation.

26.	Subsequent Events
In May 2007, MASC was authorized by the Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives to administer the 
Assiniboine Valley Producers’ Flood Assistance program. The program is being funded by the Government of Manitoba 
for the purpose of providing assistance to agricultural producers operating along the Assiniboine River between 
the Shellmouth Reservoir and Brandon. The program covers losses to crops and the inability to seed crops resulting 
from flood damage in 2005 and 2006, due to the interaction of unexpected rainfall conditions and the impact of the 
operation of the Shellmouth dam on the river flows.
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schedule of  
administrative expenses
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

	
				    2007		  2006

Adjustors’ wages, benefits and expenses	  $	 3,476 	  $	 5,126 	
Advertising	 	  225 	 	  297 	
Amortization expense	 	  122	 	  146 	
Appeal Tribunal	 	  15 	 	  22 	
Audit fees and legal	 	  318	 	  249 	
Directors’ remuneration and expenses	 	  148	 	  149 	
Furniture and equipment	 	  166	 	  549 	
Information technology	 	  778	 	  803 	
Office rental and utilities	 	  925 	 	  921 	
Other administrative expenses	 	  385	 	  471 
Other administrative recoveries	 	  (490)	 	  (436)
Postage	 	  183 	 	  178 	
Printing and office supplies	 	  282 	 	  255 	
Salaries and employee benefits	 	  10,402 	  	 10,130 	
Telephone	 	  215	 	  215 	
Travel and vehicle expenses	 	  545 	 	  603 

Total administrative expenses	 $	 17,695 	  $	 19,678 

	
Administrative expenses allocation:	
	 Lending Programs	 $	 5,086 	  $	 3,999 	
	 Production Insurance Program	 	 9,715 	  	 12,510 	
	 Hail Insurance Program	 	  1,712	 	  1,563 	
	 Wildlife Damage Compensation Program	 	  371 	 	  352 	
	 Farmland School Tax Rebate Program	 	  382 	 	  405 	
	 Other Programs	 	  429 	 	  849 

Total administrative expenses	 $	 17,695 	  $	 19,678

Schedule 1
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SCHEDULE of operations  
and funds retained
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

	L ending	P roduction Insurance	 Hail Insurance	W ildlife DamagE Compensation	F armland School	O ther Programs
	 Programs	P rogram	P rogram	P rogram (note 4)	T ax Rebate Program (note 5)	 (note 6)	 Total	T otal

		  2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	          2006

REVENUE:

Insurance premiums (Note 3 (1))	 	 	 	
	 Insured persons	  $	 – 	  $	 – 	 $	 46,602 	  $	 31,270	 $	 12,246 	  $	 10,175	  $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 – 	  $	 – 	 $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 58,848	  $	 41,445	
	 Government of Canada	 	  –  	 	 –  	  	 42,507 	 	 29,710	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	 	 –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 42,507 	  	 29,710	
	 Province of Manitoba	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 28,336 	 	 19,800	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 28,336 	  	 19,800

	 	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	117,445 	 	 80,780	 	 12,246 	 	 10,175	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	129,691 	  	 90,955

	 Interest from loans	 	  20,444 	 	  20,547	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 20,444 	  	 20,547	
	 Other contributions - Government of Canada	 	  –  	 	 – 	  	 5,822 	 	 7,495	 	 – 	  	 – 	  	 1,072 	 	  1,289	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 407	 	 6,894 	  	 9,191	
	 Other contributions - Province of Manitoba	 	  5,457 	 	  5,431 	  	 3,893 	 	 5,015	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  715	 	  867 	  	 26,235 	 	 20,906	 	 1 	 	 264	 	 36,301 	  	 32,483	
	 Investment income	 	 716  	 	 853  	  	 4,621 	 	 5,411	 	 1,264 	 	 875	 	 –   	 	 –   	  	 181	 	 113	 	 –  	 	 7	 	 6,782 	  	 7,259	
	 Real estate and other income	 	 318  	 	 345 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –   	 	 –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 722 	 	 799	 	 1,040	  	 1,144	
	 Reinsurance recoveries (Notes 13 & 14)	 	 –  	 	  –  	  	 118 	 	 89,470	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 –   	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 118	  	 89,470

	 Total revenue	 	  26,935 	  	 27,176 	  	131,899 	 	 188,171	 	 13,510	 	 11,050	 	 1,787	  	 2,156 	  	 26,416 	 	 21,019	 	 723	 	 1,477 	 	201,270 	  	251,049

	
EXPENDITURE:			 

Insurance indemnities and	 	 	 	
     compensation payments (Note 20)	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 44,323	 	 297,377	 	 4,755 	 	 5,166	 	  1,416 	 	 1,804 	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 50,494	  	304,347	
Reinsurance premiums (Notes 13 & 14)	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 17,237 	 	 11,955	 	 881 	 	 922	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 18,118	  	 12,877
Interest on borrowed funds	 	  19,621 	  	 20,389 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	  –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 19,621 	  	 20,389
Bad debt expense and guaranteed
     loan losses (Notes 10 & 22)	 	  1,443 	 	  1,234	  	 242 	 	 470	 	 3 	 	 (9) 	 	 –  	 	  – 	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (1)	 	 1,688 	  	 1,694 

Young farmer incentives	 	  1,338	 	  1,400	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 1,338	  	 1,400	
Farmland school tax rebate payments	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	  	 26,034 	 	 20,614	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 26,034	  	 20,614	
Other program payments 	 	  – 	 	  29	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 294 	 	 660	 	 294 	  	 689	
Administrative expenses  (Schedule 1)	 	  5,086	 	  3,999	  	 9,715 	 	 12,510	 	 1,712 	 	 1,563	 	  371	 	  352	  	 382	 	 405	 	 429	 	 849	 	 17,695 	  	 19,678

Total expenditure	 	  27,488 	 	  27,051 	  	 71,517 	 	 322,312	 	 7,351 	 	 7,642	 	  1,787 	 	  2,156 	  	 26,416 	 	 21,019	 	 723 	 	 1,508 	 	135,282 	  	381,688

	
Income (loss) for the year	 	  (553)	  	 125	  	 60,382 	 	(134,141)	 	 6,159 	 	 3,408	 	 – 	  	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (31)	 	 65,988	 	(130,639)

Funds retained, beginning of year	 	 (38,763) 	 	 (38,888) 	  	 98,824 	 	 232,965	 	 27,630 	 	 24,222	 	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 31	 	 87,691 	  	218,330

Funds retained, end of year	  $	 (39,316) 	  $	(38,763) 	 $	159,206 	  $	 98,824	 $	 33,789 	 $	 27,630 	 $	 – 	  $	 –  	 $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 –  	 $	 – 	 $	153,679	  $	 87,691

Schedule 2
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SCHEDULE of operations  
and funds retained
For the Year Ended March 31, 2007 (in thousands)

	L ending	P roduction Insurance	 Hail Insurance	W ildlife DamagE Compensation	F armland School	O ther Programs
	 Programs	P rogram	P rogram	P rogram (note 4)	T ax Rebate Program (note 5)	 (note 6)	 Total	T otal

		  2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	 2006	 2007	          2006

REVENUE:

Insurance premiums (Note 3 (1))	 	 	 	
	 Insured persons	  $	 – 	  $	 – 	 $	 46,602 	  $	 31,270	 $	 12,246 	  $	 10,175	  $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 – 	  $	 – 	 $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 58,848	  $	 41,445	
	 Government of Canada	 	  –  	 	 –  	  	 42,507 	 	 29,710	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	 	 –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 42,507 	  	 29,710	
	 Province of Manitoba	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 28,336 	 	 19,800	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 28,336 	  	 19,800

	 	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	117,445 	 	 80,780	 	 12,246 	 	 10,175	 	  –  	  	 –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	129,691 	  	 90,955

	 Interest from loans	 	  20,444 	 	  20,547	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 20,444 	  	 20,547	
	 Other contributions - Government of Canada	 	  –  	 	 – 	  	 5,822 	 	 7,495	 	 – 	  	 – 	  	 1,072 	 	  1,289	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 407	 	 6,894 	  	 9,191	
	 Other contributions - Province of Manitoba	 	  5,457 	 	  5,431 	  	 3,893 	 	 5,015	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  715	 	  867 	  	 26,235 	 	 20,906	 	 1 	 	 264	 	 36,301 	  	 32,483	
	 Investment income	 	 716  	 	 853  	  	 4,621 	 	 5,411	 	 1,264 	 	 875	 	 –   	 	 –   	  	 181	 	 113	 	 –  	 	 7	 	 6,782 	  	 7,259	
	 Real estate and other income	 	 318  	 	 345 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –   	 	 –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 722 	 	 799	 	 1,040	  	 1,144	
	 Reinsurance recoveries (Notes 13 & 14)	 	 –  	 	  –  	  	 118 	 	 89,470	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 –   	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 118	  	 89,470

	 Total revenue	 	  26,935 	  	 27,176 	  	131,899 	 	 188,171	 	 13,510	 	 11,050	 	 1,787	  	 2,156 	  	 26,416 	 	 21,019	 	 723	 	 1,477 	 	201,270 	  	251,049

	
EXPENDITURE:			 

Insurance indemnities and	 	 	 	
     compensation payments (Note 20)	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 44,323	 	 297,377	 	 4,755 	 	 5,166	 	  1,416 	 	 1,804 	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 50,494	  	304,347	
Reinsurance premiums (Notes 13 & 14)	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 17,237 	 	 11,955	 	 881 	 	 922	 	  –  	 	  –  	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 18,118	  	 12,877
Interest on borrowed funds	 	  19,621 	  	 20,389 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	 –  	 	  –  	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 19,621 	  	 20,389
Bad debt expense and guaranteed
     loan losses (Notes 10 & 22)	 	  1,443 	 	  1,234	  	 242 	 	 470	 	 3 	 	 (9) 	 	 –  	 	  – 	  	 – 	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (1)	 	 1,688 	  	 1,694 

Young farmer incentives	 	  1,338	 	  1,400	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 1,338	  	 1,400	
Farmland school tax rebate payments	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	  	 26,034 	 	 20,614	 	 –  	 	 – 	 	 26,034	  	 20,614	
Other program payments 	 	  – 	 	  29	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 – 	  	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 294 	 	 660	 	 294 	  	 689	
Administrative expenses  (Schedule 1)	 	  5,086	 	  3,999	  	 9,715 	 	 12,510	 	 1,712 	 	 1,563	 	  371	 	  352	  	 382	 	 405	 	 429	 	 849	 	 17,695 	  	 19,678

Total expenditure	 	  27,488 	 	  27,051 	  	 71,517 	 	 322,312	 	 7,351 	 	 7,642	 	  1,787 	 	  2,156 	  	 26,416 	 	 21,019	 	 723 	 	 1,508 	 	135,282 	  	381,688

	
Income (loss) for the year	 	  (553)	  	 125	  	 60,382 	 	(134,141)	 	 6,159 	 	 3,408	 	 – 	  	 – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 (31)	 	 65,988	 	(130,639)

Funds retained, beginning of year	 	 (38,763) 	 	 (38,888) 	  	 98,824 	 	 232,965	 	 27,630 	 	 24,222	 	 – 	 	  – 	  	 –  	 	 – 	 	 –  	 	 31	 	 87,691 	  	218,330

Funds retained, end of year	  $	 (39,316) 	  $	(38,763) 	 $	159,206 	  $	 98,824	 $	 33,789 	 $	 27,630 	 $	 – 	  $	 –  	 $	 –  	  $	 – 	 $	 –  	 $	 – 	 $	153,679	  $	 87,691
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1 1

Management’s Responsibility 
for Financial Reporting

The preparation of the fi nancial statements and other information contained in this Annual Report 

is the responsibility of management of the Manitoba Arts Council.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles using management’s estimates and judgements where appropriate. The fi nancial information shown 

elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with information contained in the fi nancial statements.

Management of the Manitoba Arts Council has developed and maintains accounting systems and internal controls 

designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of the fi nancial information, and that assets are 

appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The fi nancial statements for the year ended March 31, 2007 have been audited by Magnus & Buffi e in accordance 

with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their audit and their 

opinion on the presentation of the information included in the fi nancial statements.

The Council, through its Audit/Finance/Human Resource Committee, carries out its responsibility for the review 

and approval of the fi nancial statements and the Annual Report. The Audit/Finance/Human Resource Committee 

reports to Council who approves these fi nancial statements and the Annual Report prior to release.

Douglas Riske
E X E C U T I V E  D I R E C T O R
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1 2   M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L  2 0 0 6 / 2 0 0 7  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Auditor’s Report

To the Members of the Council,

Manitoba Arts Council

We have audited the statement of financial position of Manitoba Arts Council as at March 31, 2007 and the 

statements of revenues and expenses and changes in fund balances for the year then ended. These financial 

statements are the responsibility of the Council’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Council 

as at March 31, 2007 and the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles.

Magnus and Buffie, 

C H A R T E R E D  A C C O U N TA N T S

May 24, 2007
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   GRANTS & PROGRAMS BRIDGES 2007 2006
   FUND FUND TOTAL TOTAL

Assets
Current Assets

 Cash and short-term investments (note 3) $560,689 $0 $560,689 $118,523
 Accrued interest income 14,452 0 14,452 13,850
 Accounts receivable 39,217 0 39,217 61,703
 Prepaid expenses 16,823 0 16,823 96,662

   631,181 0 631,181 290,738

Recoverable, Province of Manitoba (note 11) 36,000 0 36,000 36,000
Recoverable, Province of Manitoba 4,000 0 4,000 15,000
Long term investments (note 4) 400,000 0 400,000 500,000
Musical instruments 104,796 0 104,796 104,796
Works of visual art 329,995 0 329,995 329,995
Capital assets (note 5) 75,192 0 75,192 91,143
Interfund balances (69,314) 69,314 0 0

Total Assets $1,511,850 $69,314 $1,581,164 $1,367,672

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Current Liabilities

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 111,200 0 111,200 167,182
 Commitments for grants and programs 597,283 6314 603,597 444,246

   708,483 6314 714,797 611,428

Investments in musical instruments 
 and works of visual art 434,791 0 434,791 434,791

   1,143,274 6314 1,149,588 1,046,219

Fund Balances
 Invested in capital assets 75,192 0 75,192 91,143
 Internally restricted (note 7) 77,000 63,000 140,000 158,000
 Unrestricted 216,384 0 216,384 72,310

   368,576 63,000 431,576 321,453

Lease Commitment (note 8)

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $1,511,850 $69,314 $1,581,164 $1,367,672

On behalf of Council

C H A I R            E X E C U T I V E  D I R E C T O R

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Statement of Financial Position
AS AT MARCH 31, 2007

The accompanying notes are an integral component of these fi nancial statements.
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1 4   M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L  2 0 0 6 / 2 0 0 7  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

   GRANTS & PROGRAMS BRIDGES 2007 2006
   FUND FUND TOTAL TOTAL

Revenues
Province of Manitoba - Operating Grant (note 9) $8,411,400 $0 $8,411,400 $8,411,400
Province of Manitoba - Bridges Grant 0 875,000 875,000 885,000
Province of Manitoba - Education Grant 50,000 0 50,000 50,000
Investment Income 114,105 0 114,105 70,453
Other  39,002 0 39,002 45,972
   8,614,507 875,000 9,489,507 9,462,825
Expenses
O R G A N I Z AT I O N S

Annual & Operating Grants
Arts Training Schools 151,000 0 151,000 149,500
Arts Service Organizations 179,900 0 179,900 125,900
Dance Companies 967,000 0 967,000 942,000
Music Organizations 1,170,000 0 1,170,000 1,153,000
Theatre Companies 1,602,000 0 1,602,000 1,647,000
Visual Arts Organizations 813,000 0 813,000 789,000
Book Publishers 255,500 0 255,500 255,900
Periodical Publishers 207,500 0 207,500 207,000
   5,345,900 0 5,345,900 5,269,300
Touring Grants 327,500 0 327,500 294,000
Presentation Grants 293,781 0 293,781 279,606
Technical Assistance Grants 0 0 0 35,000
Special Grants 22,500 0 22,500 20,854
Management & Governance 0 70,429 70,429 0
   5,989,681 70,429 6,060,110 5,898,760
I N D I V I D U A L S

Professional Development Grants 278,090 0 278,090 211,743
Creation and Production Grants 911,498 0 911,498 790,080
Touring Grants 30,000 0 30,000 9,500
Aboriginal Arts Grants 0 117,642 117,642 144,460
   1,219,588 117,642 1,337,230 1,155,783
A R T S  D E V E L O P M E N T

Residencies 305,667 0 305,667 337,650
Award of Distinction 30,000 0 30,000 30,000
Arts Stabilization 0 0 0 200,000
Special Projects 44,192 0 44,192 36,070
Special Opportunities 108,296 0 108,296 0
Community Connections 0 119,636 119,636 113,779
Arts Education Initiatives 0 (5,000) (5,000) 20,000
ArtsSmarts Grant 0 30,000 30,000 10,000
   488,155 144,636 632,791 747,499

   7,697,424 332,707 8,030,131 7,802,042
Arts Program Delivery Expenses (Schedule) 571,989 122,805 694,794 828,465
   8,269,413 455,512 8,724,925 8,630,507
Administrative Expenses (Schedule) 670,892 0 670,892 690,689
   8,940,305 455,512 9,395,817 9,321,196
Rescinded Commitments (16,433) 0 (16,433) (36,465)

Total expenses 8,923,872 455,512 9,379,384 9,284,731

Excess (Expenses) Revenues for the Year $(309,365) $419,488 $110,123 $178,094

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Statement of Revenues and Expenses
AS AT MARCH 31, 2007

The accompanying notes are an integral component of these financial statements.
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1. Authority & Purpose

 The Arts Council Act established the Manitoba Arts Council in 1965 to “...promote the study, enjoyment, pro-
duction and performance of works in the arts.” The Council is a registered charity (public foundation) and, as 
such, is exempt from income taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada).

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices

 a) Basis of Presentation
  These fi nancial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally  

accepted accounting principles within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in these 
notes to the fi nancial statements.

 b) Fund Accounting
 The fi nancial statements disclose the activities of the following funds maintained by the Council:

  i) Grants & Program Fund
   This fund refl ects the disbursement and administration of grants and programs in the spirit of the 

aims and objects of Council defi ned in The Arts Council Act.

  ii) Bridges Fund
   This fund was established in June 1999 to generate new initiatives in art development and prac-

tice, enhance public access to the arts and enhance administrative and governance skills for arts 
organizations. As well, the program will encourage new partnerships, provide more opportunities 
for professional development and assist in audience development. The excess of revenues over 
expenditures, if any, is transferred to the Grants & Programs Fund at an amount determined by the 
Council to fulfi ll similar goals and objectives.

 c) Revenue Recognition
  The Council follows the deferral method accounting for revenues. Externally restricted revenues are 

deferred and recognized as revenue in the applicable fund in the year in which the related expenses are 
incurred. Unrestricted and internally restricted revenues are recognized as revenue in the applicable 
fund when received or receivable.

 d) Grant Commitments
  Grants and program commitments are refl ected as expenses when funding is formally approved and commit-

ted by Council. Cancellations of prior years’ grant expenses are refl ected as rescinded grant commitments.

   GRANTS & PROGRAM   BRIDGES
   FUND INVESTED IN GENERAL FUND 2007 2006
   CAPITAL ASSETS (NOTE 7) (NOTE 7) TOTAL TOTAL

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year $91,143 $127,310 $103,000 $321,453 $143,359

Excess (expenses) revenues for the year (26,259) (283,106) 419,488 110,123 178,094

Additions to capital assets 10,308 (10,308) 0 0 0

Interfund transfer (note 7) 0 459,488 (459,488) 0 0

Fund Balances, End of Year $75,192 $293,384 $63,000 $431,576 $321,453

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
AS AT MARCH 31, 2007

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Notes to Financial Statements
AS AT MARCH 31, 2007
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1 6   M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L  2 0 0 6 / 2 0 0 7  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

 e) Capital Assets 
  Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided on a straight-

line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

   Office furniture and equipment 5-10 years 
Computer hardware and software 3 years

 f) Investments 
  Investments are recorded at the lower of cost and market value if any decline in market value is consid-

ered to be other than temporary.

 g) Musical instruments and works of visual art 
  Musical instruments and works of visual art are shown on the Statement of Financial Position as assets at 

cost with an offsetting credit to investments in musical instruments and works of visual art. The art bank 
collection was re-appraised in 2005, at a current market value of $449,222.00.

 h) Financial Instruments 
  The Council’s financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, investments, accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities and unpaid commitments. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 
carrying value of these instruments approximates their fair value and that the Council is not exposed to 
significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.

 i) Use of Estimates 
  The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
certain assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of certain 
revenue and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. Cash and short term investments

 Cash and short term investments consist of $57,133 cash (2006 - $92,682) and short term investments of 
$93,556 and $410,000, respectively (2006 - $25,841). The short term investments mature June 15, 2007 and 
May 2, 2007 with yields of 4.0%.

4. Long Term Investments
    2 0 0 7  2 0 0 6
    COST MARKET COST MARKET

 Manitoba Builder Bonds 200,000 204,997 200,000 205,097 
(Due Jun 15, 2007, yielding 3.8%)

 Manitoba Hydro Bonds 100,000 105,736 200,000 202,018 
(Due Jun 15, 2011, yielding 4.0%)

 Royal Bank of Canada Issuer 100,000 99,972 100,000 98,217 
Extendible Step-Up Med. 
Term Notes (Yielding 3.20%-4.25%, 
Maturing Sept 2006 to Sept 2010)

    400,000 410,705 500,000 505,332

5. Capital Assets
    2 0 0 7  2 0 0 6
   ACCUMULATED NET BOOK NET BOOK 

 COST AMORTIZATION VALUE VALUE

 Office furniture and equipment 128,613 62,877 65,736 77,747

 Computer hardware and software 258,148 248,692 9,456 13,396

  386,761 311,569 75,192 91,143

6. Works of Visual Art

 The Manitoba Arts Council moved selected works from the Visual Art Bank to the Art Gallery of Southwestern 
Manitoba. The Manitoba Foundation for the Arts awarded a grant to the Manitoba Arts Council to provide to 
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the Art Gallery of Southwestern Manitoba for the care, storage and exhibition of those works. An art bank loan 
agreement between the Council and the Art Gallery of Southwestern Manitoba is currently being negotiated.

7. Interfund Transfers and Internally Restricted Fund Balances

  In 2007, the Council members internally restricted $140,000 to be used as follows:

    GRANTS & PROGRAMS BRIDGES

 Technical Assistance 20,000
 Capital Fund Allocation 30,000
 Advocacy Initiatives 10,000
 Contact (Touring Development) 17,000
 Bridges Program Review  18,000
 Arts Education Initiative  15,000
 French Language Programs  20,000
 Consultations  10,000
    77,000 63,000

 These internally restricted amounts are not available for unrestricted purposes without the approval of the mem-
bers of Council. In addition, $459,488 (2006 - $129,676) was transferred from the Bridges Fund to the Grants & 
Programs Fund in order to fund the cash outlays for Grants to Individual Artists and Arts Development Grants.

8. Lease Commitment

 Council has entered into an agreement to lease offi ce premises until March 31, 2012. The 2007 basic annual 
rent was $112,774. The 2008 basic annual rent is estimated to be $113,084. Expenses arising from an escala-
tion clause for taxes, insurance, utilities and building maintenance are in addition to the basic rent.

9. Funding Agreement

 The funding agreement with the Province of Manitoba established the terms and conditions of funding for fi ve 
years ended March 31, 2000. During the term of the agreement, Council was entitled to retain proceeds up 
to $1,000,000 from the Province of Manitoba. Any proceeds retained in excess of $1,000,000 except for pro-
ceeds exempted in the funding agreement, would have been repaid to the Province of Manitoba on demand. In 
accordance with this Agreement, there were no proceeds repayable to the Province. As at March 31, 2007, the 
Council was in discussions with the Province regarding the terms of a new funding agreement.

10. Pension Plan

 Eligible employees are participants in the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund. The Council participates on a 
fully funded basis and its contributions of $9,620 (2006 - $13,645) represent the total obligations for the year.

11. Severance Liability

 Effective March 31, 1999, the Manitoba Arts Council, as a Crown organization, is required to record a severance li-
ability. The Province of Manitoba has recognized an opening liability of $36,000 as at April 1, 1998. Any subsequent 
changes to the severance liability will be the responsibility of Council. As at March 31, 2007, Council recorded a 
liability of $30,254 (2006 - $25,163). This liability is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

12. Statement of Cash Flow

 A statement of cash fl ow is not presented as part of the fi nancial statements as Council has determined that 
cash fl ow information is readily determinable from the other fi nancial statements.

13. Economic Dependence

 A substantial portion of the Council’s total revenue is derived from the Province of Manitoba in the form of an 
operating grant.
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1 8   M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L  2 0 0 6 / 2 0 0 7  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

   GRANTS & PROGRAMS FUND

   2007 TOTAL 2006 TOTAL

Salaries and benefits $426,854 $415,525
Council meetings 56,961 54,270
Rent   56,024 56,429
Amortization 26,259 26,065
Office supplies, printing and stationery 12,086 24,258
Postage, courier and telephone 15,229 17,387
Staff travel and expenses 23,441 18,486
Insurance and sundry 7,797 8,168
Professional fees 29,278 48,462
Equipment repairs and maintenance 1,963 3,414

Total Administrataive Expenses 655,892 672,464

Other Administrative Expenses 
(Art Bank Administration) 15,000 18,225 
   $670,892 $690,689

   GRANTS &  BRIDGES 2007 2006
   PROGRAMS FUND FUND TOTAL TOTAL

Salaries and benefits $  371,548 $  95,978 $467,526 $601,115
Jurors’ fees and expenses 72,889 8,559 81,448 78,990
Rent   47,670 9,080 56,750 57,899
Communication 40,296 1,223 41,519 41,139
Advocacy  530 0 530 6,789
Community consultations 6,648 186 6,834 16,280
Staff travel and expenses 3,117 5,359 8,476 12,376
Postage, courier and telephone 7,032 2,245 9,277 9,523
Office supplies 1,058 175 1,233 2,481
Touring development 20,393 0 20,393 0
Sundry  808 0 808 1,873
   $571,989 $122,805 $694,794 $828,465

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Schedule of Administrative Expenses
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007

M A N I T O B A  A R T S  C O U N C I L

Schedule of Arts Program Delivery Expenses
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2007
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